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          1  COMMITTEE ON MENTAL HEALTH

          2                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Good afternoon

          3  everyone and welcome to the City Council, to the

          4  Hearing of Committee on Mental Health, Mental

          5  Retardation, Alcoholism, Drug Abuse and Disability

          6  Service,  I'm Councilwoman Margarita Lopez and

          7  before we proceed with the Hearing, I would like to

          8  set the ground rules for this Hearing for everybody

          9  to be aware how business are conducted in here.

         10                 First, we're going to be introducing

         11  everybody who is behind the desk and the Sergeant of

         12  Arms for you to know that is the function of the

         13  people in here.  Beginning with Anne Emerman, you

         14  have the microphone there Anne.

         15                 MS. EMERMAN:  Anne Emerman, Staff to

         16  the Committee.

         17                 MS. DE PEDRO:  Mari De Pedro, Counsel

         18  to the Committee.

         19                 MR. WALLACE:  Andrew Wallace, City

         20  Council Finance Division.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  And the Sergeant

         22  of Arms, please, can you introduce yourself?

         23                 MR. RODRIGUEZ:  Sergeant of Arms,

         24  J.C. Rodriguez.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  And, whenever you
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          2  need to give us documentations or anything that you

          3  need, you talk to them, give the papers to them and

          4  they will bring it here.  They are instructed to

          5  stop anyone who come close to the desk, and I hope

          6  that you can appreciate that and understand why.  We

          7  have gone through some problems in this chamber and

          8  we don't want to go through that ever again.  Can

          9  you introduce yourself?

         10                 MR. MARTINEZ:  Israel Martinez.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Thank you to

         12  everyone, and at this moment, good afternoon

         13  citizens of New York City and thank you for taking

         14  the time to attend today's Hearing.  My name is

         15  Margarita Lopez.  I am the Chair of this Committee.

         16  At this moment, I would like to introduce, oh, I did

         17  that, I'm sorry.

         18                 Today, the Committee will convene to

         19  consider three Resolutions.  Resolution Number 141,

         20  Resolution Number 237, and Resolution Number 360.

         21                 Resolution Number 141 will call up

         22  the legislature of the State of New York to amend

         23  the real property tax to provide rent increase

         24  exemptions to qualified disabled head of households,

         25  model under the Senior Citizen Rent Increase
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          2  Exemption, called the SCRIE program.  This issue is

          3  very plain and simple.  This is a cost- effective

          4  program.  We can continue to double talk to this

          5  community that is on a fixed income. Seniors on a

          6  fixed different are not different from disabled

          7  homeowners on a fixed income.  Otherwise, you are

          8  sending the message that people with disability

          9  don't count.

         10                 New York City, in setting ground

         11  breaking policy, must embrace inclusion and

         12  truthfulness.  This is a society for all and not for

         13  just someone.  What is good to approve a subsidy to

         14  help seniors to save their homes, but not to

         15  disabled homeowners, who are in a worse predicament.

         16    To have a disabled person evicted from his home is

         17  to engage in irresponsible financing for the City of

         18  New York.  After we displace them, we will still

         19  have to house these individuals and probably at a

         20  higher cost than it would be to approve this

         21  initiative.

         22                 Resolution Number 237 will support

         23  comprehensive program for diagnose and treatment of

         24  Hepatitis C.  It will also support educational

         25  effort for substance abusers and for person with
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          2  psychiatric disabilities who are substance abusers.

          3  This Resolution will support this program and

          4  education effort, in order to stint the current

          5  epidemic of Hepatitis C's infection.  As the prime

          6  sponsor of this Resolution, I would like to state

          7  that Hepatitis C is a silent killer and is rapidly

          8  becoming an epidemic in New York City.

          9                 I am concerned that we are not

         10  implementing preventive measurements, because the

         11  system considers that the population affected is a

         12  population that we want to ignore and that we don't

         13  care for.  But, regardless of communicative

         14  diseases, do not discriminate between lower or

         15  higher class in society.  As a society, and for the

         16  benefit of all, we must act now to prevent Hepatitis

         17  C from becoming a full- fledged epidemic. We need to

         18  learn from our past experience.  We need to stop

         19  bigotry and prejudgment of human beings in regard of

         20  providing health care services to people.

         21                 Finally, Resolution Number 360 will

         22  call on the appropriate Committee of the Council of

         23  the City of New York to hold Hearings regarding the

         24  safety and effectiveness of prescribing

         25  antidepressants to children and adolescents.
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          2                 I would like to add that I am proud

          3  of the City Council for coming forward with this

          4  issue that are at the forefront of our public

          5  concern.  Like this one, we, when do you place

          6  somebody on medication?  One has the right to

          7  medication -- I'm sorry, who has the right to

          8  medicate children with psychotropic drugs?  We are

          9  confronted with many cases of depression in children

         10  and, in many, this depression is connected to

         11  suicide.

         12                 At the same time, we have a system in

         13  place that does not want to deal with this issue.

         14  There are numerous families trying protect their

         15  children and been in a situation that is not a

         16  win/win situation for them.  They have children with

         17  behavioral problems that impair teaching and

         18  learning at the school system, impair their family

         19  life at home.  Sometimes, the children are medicated

         20  because we don't have anything better to give them,

         21  just for the damage control.  But, we cannot create

         22  a modality of treatment just to control their

         23  behavior.

         24                 At the same time, I don't think we

         25  give the proper value to a protocol of medication
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          2  after a proper diagnosis.  But, we need to keep

          3  check and balance in prescribing medication,

          4  especially for such vulnerable segment of society.

          5  We can't lose sight of the danger these children are

          6  exposed to because of their illnesses, and as a

          7  society, we need to address this issue without a

          8  stigma and bigotry.

          9                 I am of the belief that psychotropic

         10  medication are good.  I am of the belief that

         11  psychotropic medication has helped hundreds and

         12  hundreds and hundreds of people.  I also of the

         13  belief that psychotropic medication should not be

         14  the only answer to these problems.  That we need to

         15  look at it as one of many possibilities and we can

         16  not only cast them as the way to resolve the problem

         17  and move forward.  But, to imply or believe that

         18  psychotropic medication is evil is wrong.  I don't

         19  agree with that and I think that we need to be very

         20  careful when we take that position, because I can

         21  say, based on my own experience, as a mental health

         22  professional, how many people did not die on the

         23  Winter time when I was an outreach worker in Central

         24  Park?  Due to the fact that they accepted help with

         25  a comprehensive approach and accepted psychotropic
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          2  medication to deal with the symptomatology of

          3  psychosis and allow them not to be paranoid and be

          4  able to accept housing.  I am a witness to that.  I

          5  have seen it work.

          6                 I can say today here that those

          7  people are alive today and not frozen to death in

          8  Central Park because psychotropic medication did the

          9  trick for them.  Do I say that psychotropic

         10  medication is good for everybody?  No.  No, I don't

         11  say that.  Do I say that psychotropic medication

         12  should be the answer to the problem?  No, I don't

         13  say that.  But, we need to strike a balance here,

         14  and the balance need to be striked very delicately

         15  and very carefully.  That's the purpose of this

         16  Hearing, to give the voices to those one whose

         17  voices want to be quiet and people don't want to

         18  hear it.  We need to give voices to that and the

         19  space to talk about it.

         20                 I am proud of the City Council by

         21  taking the first step in this direction.  Before we

         22  begin to hear testimony on these three Resolutions,

         23  I would also like to give the sponsors of this

         24  Resolution an opportunity to share a few words about

         25  their Resolution they have introduced.  They are
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          2  Council Member Helen Foster, prime sponsor of

          3  Resolution 141, Council Member Letitia James,

          4  Resolution 360.  They are not here at this moment --

          5  huh?  No, I cannot allow that.  They are not present

          6  at this moment, and I will wait for them to arrive.

          7  But, as we continue the Hearing, I would like

          8  Council Member Palma to introduce herself and

          9  identify from where she represents in the City

         10  Council.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER PALMA:  Thank you

         12  Madam Chair. Good afternoon everyone.  I'm Annabel

         13  Palma and I represent District 18th in the Bronx,

         14  and it covers Parkchester, Castle Hill and Southview

         15  Section.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  We can proceed

         17  with calling the first panel.

         18                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE:  We will first

         19  hear testimony on Resolution Number 360, and the

         20  first panel will consist of Dr. David Shaffer, Dr.

         21  Melvin Oatis, Vera Hassner Sharav, Valerie Porr.

         22  Yes, please, can you please raise your right hand,

         23  and at this moment, will you swear or affirm that

         24  the testimony you will provide will be truthful in

         25  all concerns?

                                                            12

          1  COMMITTEE ON MENTAL HEALTH

          2                 DR. SHAFFER:  Yes.

          3                 MS. SHARAV:  Yes.

          4                 DR. OATIS:  Yes.

          5                 MS. PORR:  Yes.

          6                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE:  Can we please

          7  start with Dr. Shaffer.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  This place is a

          9  funny place.

         10                 DR. SHAFFER:  Okay.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  You need to press

         12  the button and no light on it, and then you can

         13  speak.

         14                 DR. SHAFFER:  Okay.  My name is David

         15  Shaffer. I'm Irving Philips Professor of Child

         16  Psychiatry and Professor of Psychiatry and

         17  Pediatrics at Columbia University, and Director of

         18  Child and Adolescent Psychiatry at New York State

         19  Psychiatric Institute.  I want to declare that I've

         20  received no payments, travel or any other benefits,

         21  directly or indirectly, from any pharmaceutical

         22  company engaged in the manufacture or distribution

         23  of any of the antidepressants considered by the FDA.

         24                 My testimony is as follows:  On

         25  October the 15th, 2004, the Food and Drug

                                                            13

          1  COMMITTEE ON MENTAL HEALTH

          2  Administration amended the labeling on

          3  antidepressants with the following wording:

          4  Antidepressants increase the risk of suicidal

          5  thinking and behavior in children and adolescents

          6  with major depressive disorder and other psychiatric

          7  disorders.  Anyone considering the use of, the name

          8  of the drug, or any other antidepressant in a child

          9  or adolescent must balance this risk with the

         10  clinical need.  Patients who are started on therapy

         11  should be observed closely for clinical worsening,

         12  suicidality or unusual changes in behavior.

         13  Families and caregivers should be advised of the

         14  need for close observation and communication with

         15  the prescriber.  The drug is not approved for use in

         16  pediatric patients, except for patients with any

         17  approved disorder.

         18                 This decision to alter the labeling

         19  was based on pooled analyses of 25 short- term

         20  placebo- controlled trials of nine antidepressant

         21  drugs in children and adolescents with major

         22  depressive disorder, OCD, and other psychiatric

         23  disorders.  These analyses revealed a greater risk

         24  of adverse events representing suicidal thinking or

         25  behavior during the first few months of treatment in
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          2  those receiving antidepressants.  The rate of such

          3  events occurring on placebo was two percent, and the

          4  rate of such events occurring on the drug was four

          5  percent.  No suicides occurred during any of these

          6  trials, and this decision has led to a mixed

          7  reaction among practicing child psychiatrists.

          8                 On the one hand, there's a general

          9  recognition that the treatment of a depressed

         10  adolescent is a serious matter and that medication

         11  or other treatment should not be administered

         12  without careful consideration and frequent

         13  monitoring.  On the other hand, there is concern

         14  that adolescent depression is often undiagnosed and

         15  untreated.  It is a condition that can lead to

         16  significant difficulties in the youth's educational

         17  or work life, and in their social relationships.  It

         18  causes unhappiness and can lead to substance abuse

         19  and, in some cases, death.

         20                 There is concern that under-

         21  recognition and under treatment will increase as a

         22  result of this labeling decision and that

         23  prescribing an antidepressant for an adolescent

         24  might leave a practitioner open to litigation and to

         25  an increase in malpractice insurance costs.
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          2                 Now, just prior to the FDA

          3  announcement, results were published from the large

          4  NIMH- sponsored Treatment for Adolescent Depression

          5  study that enrolled a large number of teenagers who

          6  were suffering from severe depression.  This study,

          7  conducted by some of the most careful investigators

          8  and scientists in the country showed, one, that

          9  attention alone resulted in significant improvement

         10  in 35 percent of subjects, that cognitive behavior

         11  therapy, which is a form of psychotherapy especially

         12  designed for adolescents, resulted in improvement in

         13  about 43 percent, which is no different to placebo,

         14  that treatment with fluoxetine, also known as

         15  Prozac, resulted in improvement in 61 percent of

         16  children, twice the rate that you would get with no

         17  treatment, and the treatment with a combination of

         18  Prozac and CBT resulted in improvement in 71 percent

         19  of cases.

         20                 In other words, medication resulted

         21  in twice as many cured or improved adolescents as

         22  other treatments, and psychotherapy was no better

         23  than placebo and less accompanied with medication.

         24                 Furthermore, an examination of what

         25  has happened to the youth suicide rate since the
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          2  introduction of the SSRI antidepressants reveals

          3  that instead of what we might expect, that the

          4  suicide rate should have increased, it has, in fact,

          5  after nearly 30 years of persistent inexorable

          6  increase, declined since 1994.  In 2001, 315 fewer

          7  teenagers committed suicide than in 1993.

          8                 Furthermore, two careful studies of

          9  the body fluids of approximately 200 teenage

         10  suicides conducted in Utah and in New York City

         11  failed to show the presence of any, there were only

         12  three out of 200, showed the presence of any SSRI

         13  antidepressant present at death.  In the Utah study,

         14  information suggests that a quarter of all the

         15  teenagers have previously been prescribed the

         16  antidepressants, but in only two of those cases did

         17  they appear to have been taking them.  In other

         18  words, it may be that their suicide was caused not

         19  by them receiving SSRI antidepressants, but by their

         20  not taken them.  Similar research has been conducted

         21  in Scandinavia, which suggests the same findings.

         22                 Finally, a study conducted at

         23  Columbia University compared prescription rates for

         24  SSRI's and suicide rates among adolescents between

         25  1991 and 2001, and this showed that in areas where
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          2  prescriptions that increased the most, the suicide

          3  rate had declined the most.

          4                 It was also greatly regretted that

          5  the FDA only had access to two child psychiatrists

          6  on their committee, and that they failed to point

          7  out the fact that suicide ideation and suicide

          8  attempts are extremely common in this age group and

          9  may not carry the same significance they do in

         10  adults.  Based on figures derived from the

         11  government's own Youth Risk Behavior Survey,

         12  approximately 8,000 girls will think about suicide

         13  for everyone who completes suicide.  Nearly 1,000

         14  boys will think about suicide for everyone who

         15  completes suicide.  There were 400 suicide attempts

         16  among boys for every completed suicide, and 4,000

         17  suicide attempts among girls for every completed

         18  suicide.

         19                 In other words, there is distress in

         20  our profession that a treatment that is inexpensive

         21  and a proven efficacy and for which there's a strong

         22  presumption that it might prevent suicide, is being

         23  discouraged on such flimsy evidence.

         24                 Finally, most psychiatrists of any

         25  age will be able to tell you that when they learned
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          2  their profession, they were taught that the time

          3  when one has to be most worried about a depressed

          4  patient committing suicide or being suicidal is at

          5  the time that recovery commences.  I've given you

          6  references to textbooks to this effect that date

          7  from the 1920's, the 1930's, the nineteenth century,

          8  going back as far as Benjamin Rush, the father of

          9  American psychiatry, who in 1812, noted the same

         10  observation.

         11                 In other words, there may well be

         12  something about the early stages of recovery from

         13  depression that increasing the likelihood of

         14  suicide, and what these studies might have been

         15  picking up was that very early manifestation of

         16  recovery.  The profession is distressed that

         17  decisions should have been made with such potential

         18  for far- reaching negative effects, with so little

         19  consideration of the breadth of the evidence and we

         20  are most grateful to you for having given us time to

         21  give this testimony.  Thank you.

         22                 DR. OATIS:  Hi.  I'm Dr. Melvin

         23  Oatis, Assistant Professor of Clinical Psychiatry at

         24  NYU and the Director of a Consultation Liaison

         25  Service.  Thank you for giving me the opportunity to
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          2  speak to you today regarding this very important

          3  issue.

          4                 As a child and adolescent

          5  psychiatrist and full time faculty at NYU and the

          6  President of the New York Council on Child and

          7  Adolescent Psychiatry in Manhattan, I recognize the

          8  impact of depressive illness on the development of

          9  children and the struggle that parents feel

         10  regarding seeking assistance for this serious

         11  illness.

         12                 Barriers such as stigma regarding

         13  mental illness, cost and the lack of knowledge

         14  regarding symptoms and the availability of treatment

         15  prevent many families from obtaining the essential

         16  care that is needed for their children.  We are

         17  concerned, in the psychiatric community, about any

         18  additional impediments to the treatment of this

         19  severe illness.

         20                 While the FDA has added a black box

         21  cautionary warning to all antidepressants used with

         22  children and adolescents, it is important to be

         23  aware that as shown by recent treatment study

         24  published in the Journal of American Medical

         25  Association, fluoxetine, better known by brand name

                                                            20

          1  COMMITTEE ON MENTAL HEALTH

          2  as Prozac, is an essential weapon in the treatment

          3  of adolescent depression. The addition of

          4  specialized therapy enhances the response, but

          5  therapy alone was not as effective.

          6                 In addition, several of the serotonin

          7  reuptake inhibitors, better known to you as SSRI's

          8  have been shown in rigorous studies to be extremely

          9  helpful in children and adolescent anxiety

         10  disorders, including severe Obsessive Compulsive

         11  Disorder.

         12                 The FDA analysis of 4,400 patients in

         13  research studies showed an increase risk of suicidal

         14  thinking or behavior in those patients taking

         15  antidepressant medications.  However, while the risk

         16  was twice the risk of placebo, it was still very

         17  small, only four percent, representing about 100

         18  children, compared to two percent, with no suicides

         19  in either group.

         20                 Therefore, it is essential that this

         21  warning be taken in clear context, so that the more

         22  than ten percent of children and adolescents in

         23  America, which represents about 2.5 percent of

         24  children and 8.3 percent of adolescents according to

         25  the NIMH, or the National Institute of Mental
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          2  Health, with major depressive disorder are

          3  appropriately treated.

          4                 In its warning, the FDA did not say

          5  that these medications should not be used.  Rather,

          6  the FDA wanted to insure that the patients receive

          7  both sufficient information and the best possible

          8  treatment.  There is no different, this is no

          9  different than a wide variety of non- psychiatric

         10  medications in use for children that also have a

         11  black box warning.

         12                 We applaud any statement that

         13  cautions against the frivolous use of medications.

         14  We are, however, extremely concerned that this back,

         15  black box warning will unnecessarily result in the

         16  avoidance or under- treatment of these children by

         17  physicians and decrease the help seeking behavior by

         18  families for a condition in which only a small

         19  minority are currently seeking treatment, and if

         20  which left untreated, may cause chronic difficulties

         21  in their functioning, including substance abuse and

         22  a heightened risk for suicide.

         23                 We believe that while efficacy for

         24  the treatment of depression in children and

         25  adolescents has been demonstrated for fluoxetine or
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          2  Prozac, there are often sound clinical reasons to

          3  choose another antidepressant within this class of

          4  SSRI's.  As always, as recommended by the FDA,

          5  careful and frequent monitoring must be provided to

          6  all patients.

          7                 Finally, you should be aware that in

          8  at least, in the last ten years, the use of

          9  antidepressants in adolescents has increased

         10  dramatically.  At the same time, there has been a 25

         11  percent reduction of suicide in this age group.

         12  Early studies have suggested that there is a cause

         13  and effect relationship. Without these life- saving

         14  medications, many children will suffer needlessly.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Just one minute.

         16  Council Member, can you introduce yourself?

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  I'm Council

         18  Member Stewart, from Central Brooklyn.  Happy to be

         19  here.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  You can proceed

         21  now.  Yes.

         22                 MS. SHARAV:  My name is Vera Hassner

         23  Sharav and I'm President of The Alliance for Human

         24  Research Protection, the organization that posted

         25  the embargoed FDA report, in which it was reported
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          2  that SSRI's increased the risk of suicide in

          3  children two- fold.  We posted it on the website as

          4  a public service.

          5                 In medicine, evidence of treatment

          6  effectiveness is reflected in improved outcome of

          7  the condition for which it is prescribed.  It is

          8  hard to imagine the anguish experienced by parents,

          9  relatives and friends of a child who took his or her

         10  own life.  That such an event could be precipitated

         11  by a supposedly beneficial drug is a catastrophe.

         12  The crime is that drug manufacturers knew for more

         13  than 15 years that antidepressants triggered

         14  violence and suicidal behavior in company-

         15  controlled clinical trials, but they concealed the

         16  evidence, and marketed the drugs without warnings.

         17                 The story behind the skyrocketing use

         18  of SSRI antidepressants for childhood depression was

         19  first uncovered publicly in the UK, where 50,000

         20  children have been prescribed SSRI's.  The bigger

         21  story, though, is in the U.S.  The FDA estimates

         22  that 11 million antidepressant prescriptions have

         23  been written for children and adolescents, 2.7

         24  million for children under 12.

         25                 Doctors and parents have been misled
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          2  with reassurances by leading child psychiatrists who

          3  advocated the drugs as being safe and effective,

          4  when the scientific evidence showed the opposite.

          5  Contrary to published reports about positive

          6  findings in medical journals, the actual scientific

          7  findings show that the drugs don't work any better

          8  in children than a sugar pill.  The drugs failed in

          9  22 of 24 clinical trials.

         10                 Furthermore, the scientific data

         11  shows that, on average, at least twice as many

         12  children became suicidal on the drugs compared to

         13  the sugar pill.  Traci Johnson was a healthy 19

         14  year- old student, a volunteer who committed suicide

         15  while testing the drug Cymbalta at Eli Lilly's own

         16  laboratory.

         17                 Some of you may wonder, how is it

         18  possible that drugs prescribed by doctors for

         19  everything from depression to social anxiety to

         20  shyness, premenstrual cramps and migraine headaches

         21  have triggered severe, even lethal, adverse effects?

         22  The answer is, no one knows how these drugs work or

         23  whether the damaging effects on the brain and

         24  central nervous system is permanent.

         25                 Doctors can't predict who is at risk
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          2  for a drug induced life- threatening behavior.  When

          3  asked whether it's good or bad that more and more

          4  children and adolescents, even pre school children,

          5  are being treated with antidepressants, Dr. Robert

          6  Findling (phonetic), Chair of the American Academy

          7  of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry's Research

          8  Committee admitted the scariest thing is that nobody

          9  knows.

         10                 The FDA's drug testing and evaluation

         11  process has failed miserably.  Harmful drugs have

         12  been approved in a secretive process controlled by

         13  the pharmaceutical industry.  The FDA has suppressed

         14  its own medical officers' reports when the

         15  evaluations of the data posed a risk to industry's

         16  business interests.  Only under pressure from the

         17  public and two Congressional committees to release

         18  the famous Dr. Mosholder Report did the FDA re-

         19  analyze the data and acknowledge a two- fold

         20  increased suicide risk in children taking

         21  antidepressants.

         22                 On March 22, the FDA required

         23  extensive suicide warnings for adults and children

         24  treated with antidepressants for both psychiatric

         25  and non- psychiatric indications.  This is an
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          2  acknowledgment that it's the drug and the not

          3  underlying depression that's to blame.  In October,

          4  the FDA finally issued a requirement for a black box

          5  suicide, to alert physicians about the risks.  But,

          6  Pfizer, so far, has not complied with FDA suicide

          7  warning requirements.  An advertisement for Zoloft

          8  in the New York Times Magazine, October 24th, failed

          9  to disclose any of the suicide risks.

         10                 Antidepressants are linked also to an

         11  array of other harmful effects in addition to

         12  suicide, the emergence of anxiety, agitation, panic

         13  attacks, a whole host of them. Evidence from

         14  clinical centers validate the data from the clinical

         15  trials.  A Harvard review of medical records found

         16  that 74 percent of children treated with an

         17  antidepressant suffered adverse effects during the

         18  course of treatment.

         19                 Other studies have linked an alarming

         20  rise of manic depression in children, linking it to

         21  increased use of antidepressants, and they've

         22  defined this phenomenon as manic conversion.  A Yale

         23  study said that it, that treatment with

         24  antidepressants, and I quote "is associated with

         25  highest conversion hazards among children aged ten
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          2  to 14."  What is the medical rationale for

          3  prescribing drugs that expose children to a wide

          4  range of severe, life- threatening side effects,

          5  when they have failed repeatedly to demonstrate a

          6  greater effect than placebo?

          7                 Antidepressant drug sales amount now

          8  to $17 billion last year.  The drugs are hugely

          9  profitable, not because they're effective, but

         10  because of aggressive promotion and advertising, as

         11  long as they conceal the severe adverse effects,

         12  with false claims continually about the safety and

         13  effectiveness. Elliot Spitzer called this fraudulent

         14  marketing.

         15                 Parents of young children are being

         16  targeted with the ruthless marketing of drugs.  It

         17  seems to be a manufactured epidemic of childhood

         18  depression, bipolar disorder, social anxiety, ADHD.

         19  This has led to a shift in spending.  A medical

         20  report found that more was spent for psychoactive

         21  drugs for children than for essential antibiotics

         22  and asthma medications. In the last three years,

         23  there was a 71 percent increase in the use of

         24  antidepressants in children, and a 369 percent

         25  increase in the use of antidepressants in pre-
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          2  schoolers.

          3                 The City Council may be in a good

          4  position to stand up to the pharmaceutical industry

          5  and mental health providers, who, together, are

          6  depleting the City's and State's health care budget.

          7    For starters, how many children in New York City

          8  are receiving SSRI's?  How many of those

          9  prescriptions are paid by taxpayers?  How many

         10  children in foster care receive SSRI's and other

         11  anti, psychotropic drugs?  How much money are

         12  taxpayers spending for harmful psychotropic drugs?

         13                 There is the issue of conflict of

         14  interest that confounds science and medicine.  Most

         15  of those who promote the use of psychotropic drugs

         16  for children are supported by industry.

         17  Psychiatrists, both the Columbia and NYU, have on-

         18  going financial ties to drug manufacturers.  They

         19  conduct industry- sponsored clinical trials, receive

         20  consultant fees.  They have inflated the drug

         21  efficacy with, by downplaying the hazards and

         22  providing the industry with the legitimizing seal of

         23  professional approval to expand SSRI use in

         24  children.

         25                 For example, Dr. Harold Koplewicz,
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          2  who's Director of NYU Child Center, is the Editor-

          3  in- Chief of the Journal of Child and Adolescent

          4  Psychopharmacology.  In a recent editorial called

          5  Misguided Resistance to Appropriate Treatment for

          6  Adolescent Depression, Dr. Koplewicz laments the FDA

          7  March 22 advisory warning, because, according to

          8  him, it "may unintentionally enhance the resistance

          9  of parents to utilize the only effective available

         10  treatment for their children struggling with

         11  depression."

         12                 Dr. Koplewicz is the author of

         13  several published SSRI clinical trial reports that

         14  have recently been challenged as scientifically

         15  invalid because they relied on only partial data,

         16  deposited data, whereas the negative, the adverse

         17  data was concealed.

         18                 The fact is, it is difficult to find

         19  credible reports about psychotropic drugs in U.S.

         20  Publications.  That is because the pharmaceutical

         21  industry has such inordinate control over the entire

         22  enterprise.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  You need to wrap

         24  up your testimony.

         25                 MS. SHARAV:  I think I will wrap it
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          2  up, and what I would like to say is just to respond

          3  to what you said, which is absolutely right, the

          4  drugs are not for everyone.  They are helpful for

          5  some.  We need to know who can be helped and who not

          6  and little children are not the market to target

          7  until you have real answers and you can really

          8  assure parents that their children will not suffer

          9  and that they will be helped.

         10                 So far, the science is against the

         11  profession. The science -- excuse me, the science

         12  says that children are not helped by these drugs and

         13  that the drugs pose very serious risks, including

         14  suicide.  I think it would be useful for the Council

         15  Members to read the transcript, the testimonies, of

         16  the families who testified before the FDA, both in

         17  February and in September, and get a feel of the at,

         18  what these drugs have done to their lives and how

         19  their children committed suicide a few weeks after

         20  being on the drug, never having been suicidal

         21  before.  Thank you very much.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Thank you.

         23  Before you testify Ms. Valerie Porr, just one

         24  minute.  Council Members who just arrived, can you

         25  introduce yourselves, beginning with Council Member
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          2  Gentile?

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE:  Thank you

          4  Madam Chair, Councilman Vincent Gentile, 43rd

          5  District in Brooklyn.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  Council Member

          7  Letitia James from Brooklyn.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Ms. Porr, it's a

          9  pleasure to see you again.

         10                 MS. PORR:  Thank you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  We know each

         12  other from my past life.

         13                 MS. PORR:  And almost mine.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  It's always

         15  wonderful to see you.

         16                 MS. PORR:  Thank you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  You can proceed.

         18                 MS. PORR:  I hope I can do this with

         19  a few less statistics and a little down to earth

         20  information.  I thank the Council for giving me the

         21  opportunity to bring the closet mental disorder out

         22  of the closet, and that is borderline personality

         23  disorder.

         24                 I'm the President of the Treatment

         25  and Research Advancement's National Association for
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          2  Personality Disorder.  Our organization does

          3  education and advocacy for people with borderline

          4  personality disorder and we work with families,

          5  training them on how to deal with their children who

          6  may be anywhere from eight years old to adults.

          7                 Our experience, we run a New York

          8  City help- line. Our experience on our help- line is

          9  that one- third of our callers are from parents of

         10  adolescents, who meet criteria for borderline

         11  personality disorder.  The reason I'm here today is

         12  that borderline personality disorder will often

         13  appear as if it is depression.  So, these adolescent

         14  kids go into -- and as far down as eight years old,

         15  go into the local psychiatrist and are given a

         16  medication for depression, but they aren't really

         17  suffering with depression.  Their suicide attempts

         18  come as acts of impulsivity and SSRI's are not

         19  necessarily the medication of choice that is going

         20  to deal with impulsivity.

         21                 My issue here is that Dr. Shaffer

         22  gave you the solution to this problem, which is the

         23  studies do show that medication plus cognitive

         24  behavioral therapy work.  The medication seems to

         25  simmer down the symptoms and the cognitive behavior
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          2  teaches the person skills and we have awarded a

          3  Nobel Prize to Eric Kandel (phonetic) for

          4  neurogenesis, which is that the brain is capable of

          5  growing new pathways.

          6                 So, when you teach children with a

          7  medication, you have the opportunity of making

          8  permanent, long- range changes.  I think that it

          9  behooves the City to make sure, firstly, that

         10  children are appropriately diagnosed.  Because, the

         11  average person with borderline personality disorder

         12  receives the following diagnoses over ten years

         13  before they get the diagnosis of borderline: ADHD,

         14  major depression, anxiety, panic, bipolar,

         15  schizoeffective, asperger's symptom, before they get

         16  to BPD.

         17                 At that point, they have missed so

         18  many opportunities to learn coping skills and have

         19  managed to learn maladaptive skills such as 67

         20  percent of substance abusers meet criteria for

         21  borderline, 28 percent of your prison population in

         22  the State of Connecticut meet criteria for

         23  borderline, one out of three domestic violence

         24  perpetrators meets criteria for borderline, you have

         25  about 25 percent of eating disorder.  All of these

                                                            34

          1  COMMITTEE ON MENTAL HEALTH

          2  public health issues are ways of coping with the

          3  pain, the emotional pain of borderline personality

          4  disorder.

          5                 I am relieved to see it being

          6  diagnosed in children.  It was first put into the

          7  DSM4R that it was appropriate to diagnose

          8  adolescents and kids with borderline personality

          9  disorder.  However, the doctors aren't doing it.

         10  So, the doctors don't diagnose and in the City of

         11  New York, in this wonderful, cutting- edge City, we

         12  have three treatment places for borderline

         13  personality disorder adolescents, Montefiore

         14  Hospital, run by Alek Miller (phonetic), who has a

         15  wonderful program for suicidal teenagers, and that

         16  you need to live in a catchment area, then you have

         17  Schneider's Children Hospital (phonetic) with a DBT

         18  program, and they have a waiting list, and Saint

         19  Luke's has a program.

         20                 So, I do the City of New York a great

         21  service by sending all of my borderline adolescents

         22  to the State of Vermont, where there is a residence

         23  and a treating setting and the New York State

         24  Department of Education is forced to pay for it.

         25  Why don't we treat these kids in the City of New
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          2  York appropriately? Not just with a magic wand of

          3  medication, but with the cognitive behavioral

          4  therapy that should go with it and with

          5  psychoeducation for the families, so that we have a

          6  multi- axial approach, and we prevent the later

          7  public health costs.

          8                 If we just got a quarter of our

          9  substance abusers treated when they were kids, look

         10  at how much money we would save.  So, I ask that you

         11  include in this population of depression and

         12  antidepressants, that you take a good look at the

         13  borderline population for whom this is not

         14  necessarily the appropriate medication.

         15                 I also have two family members here

         16  with me who would like to give testimony about their

         17  experience with this.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Eventually, they

         19  will be called, but not at this moment.  At this

         20  moment, I would like Council Member Gennaro to

         21  introduce himself and then Council Member Letitia

         22  James, who is one of the authors of one of the

         23  Resolution is going to address the public.  Council

         24  Member Gennaro.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO:  Thank you

                                                            36

          1  COMMITTEE ON MENTAL HEALTH

          2  Madam Chair. I'm happy and pleased to be here today.

          3    My name is Jim Gennaro. I'm a Councilman from the

          4  24th District in Central Queens.  I'm a proud

          5  sponsor of all the Resolutions on the docket today.

          6  Thank you Madam Chair.  Thank you Madam Chair.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Council Member

          8  James.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  Thank you

         10  Chair.  Good afternoon.  I introduced this

         11  legislation in May to investigate the safety and

         12  efficacy of the use of antidepressants in teens and

         13  children.  Since that time, the FDA has issued a

         14  public health advisory concerning the increased risk

         15  of suicide in children and teens taking

         16  antidepressants.  Last month, the FDA directed

         17  antidepressant manufacturers to add a warning label

         18  about the risk of children who take these

         19  medications face on a daily basis.

         20                 In addition, Britain has recently

         21  banned the use of almost all antidepressants in

         22  children.  A sharp increase in prescriptions of

         23  antidepressants in children can be noticed in the

         24  past five years and I am deeply concerned that these

         25  drugs are prescribed much too freely, particularly

                                                            37

          1  COMMITTEE ON MENTAL HEALTH

          2  in our schools, in our prisons and, often times, I

          3  see a significant number of children in the

          4  community, who, unfortunately, have been subjected

          5  to antidepressants without other alternatives.

          6                 It seems many doctors have acted as

          7  salesmen for the drug manufacturers and not as

          8  guardians for these children. So, I'm urging this

          9  Committee today to vote on this piece of, this

         10  Resolution, and I hope that my, the full body of

         11  this Council will pass this piece of legislation,

         12  and I thank the Chair for this opportunity to

         13  present my comments.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  At this moment,

         15  we're going to proceed with the vote on the three

         16  Resolutions we have quorum, and I would like to call

         17  the question.

         18                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Council Member Lopez.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Pass, at this

         20  moment.

         21                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Gennaro.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO:  I vote aye,

         23  very proudly on all three items.

         24                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Stewart.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  Aye.
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          2                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Gentile.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE:  Madam Chair,

          4  if I may be excused to explain my vote?

          5                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Absolutely.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE:  I want to

          7  congratulate you, Madam Chair, for these pieces that

          8  we are now voting on today, and putting them forth

          9  before this Committee, because this is really

         10  ground- breaking in all these areas.  The Hepatitis

         11  C infections is certainly something that has

         12  affected many, many people, substance abusers, but

         13  also the Asian American community throughout the

         14  City of New York.

         15                 I want to congratulate Council Member

         16  James.  The fact that we are medicating our children

         17  to the extent that we are should be a national

         18  scandal and with your permission, I'd like to be

         19  added to that Resolution, certainly.

         20                 And, certainly, on the SCRIE,

         21  Resolution 141, certainly adding disabled heads of

         22  household to the SCRIE program, or having the

         23  program modeled on the SCRIE is, the time certainly

         24  has come for that, and I think, Madam Chair, our

         25  next step would be calling on a Resolution to adding
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          2  disabled heads of household to the ethic program, so

          3  that those in, those in that situation would be able

          4  to receive prescription drug coverage also.  With

          5  that, I vote aye on all.

          6                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Palma.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER PALMA:  Madam Chair,

          8  may I be excused to explain my vote?

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Absolutely.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER PALMA:  At this time,

         11  I would also like to add my name to Reso. 141 and

         12  Reso. 360, and congratulate both Council Member

         13  Foster and James for bringing forward these very

         14  important pieces of legislation and I vote aye on

         15  all.

         16                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Council Member Lopez.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Did Stewart vote?

         18    Yes, I'm sorry, I didn't hear.  I would like to

         19  address the public in regard to these three pieces

         20  of legislation.

         21                 First, I want to make very clear that

         22  the action that Council Member James took about

         23  bringing this issue to the forefront of the Council

         24  is not going to be based on one Hearing only.  We're

         25  going to look into this further and we're going to
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          2  look into this further because I think this is a

          3  very delicate subject.  And, in the subject in

          4  question is a matter of life and death and when you

          5  deal with life and death, you need to be extremely

          6  careful on how you're going to proceed because

          7  information that is inaccurate, give it to the

          8  public, can cause the death of somebody, or, it can

          9  cause saving the life of somebody.

         10                 I think that we have a tendency in

         11  our society to question the pharmaceuticals, because

         12  in the past, they have behaved inappropriately.

         13  But, also, we lose our sight that psychotropic

         14  medication has saved the lives of thousands and

         15  thousands of people.  Then, I am a person who is

         16  very cautious about this issue and very balanced,

         17  then we are not going to allow this issue to go

         18  away.

         19                 We're going to have a second Hearing

         20  on this issue, because we want to find out directed,

         21  under the leadership of Council Member James, how is

         22  this implementation happening in the City of New

         23  York in the school system, in the foster care

         24  system, et cetera, et cetera, where children are

         25  being medicated and we don't know how that is
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          2  happening, and if it's happening appropriately also,

          3  because it could be that children are

          4  undermedicated.  Sometimes we only look at the

          5  question of overmedicated, and it's not just

          6  overmedicating.

          7                 We need to look at this in a very

          8  holistic and open- minded way to be able to decide,

          9  really, if this is bad or good.  I am glad to see

         10  this issue being brought to our attention,

         11  particularly because also the FDA also have been

         12  caught with their pants down on many occasions, and

         13  it's very important that on this one, they are

         14  reacting.  I want to make very clear, from my side,

         15  I don't believe that this medication is bad.  I also

         16  don't believe that this medication is good.  I only

         17  believe that this medication is helping people

         18  sometimes for good reasons, other times, people

         19  don't respond to it, and we just need to put a

         20  balance in place.

         21                 Saying that in regard to this issue,

         22  I want to congratulate Council Member James for

         23  bringing my attention to it and we will continue

         24  looking into this.

         25                 The last point that I want to make is
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          2  in regard of the Resolution 141.  It's about time

          3  that we address the question of the double treatment

          4  of the disabled community compared to other

          5  communities, and today I'm proud to say, as I

          6  promised to the disabled community, that this bill

          7  was going to be passed, we're passing it today, to

          8  bring equity and equality to any other one that is

          9  on a fixed income, is no difference and I love your

         10  sign.  Therefore, at this moment, we're going to

         11  pass this bill and I vote aye on the three of them.

         12  Thank you.

         13                 COUNCIL CLERK:  By a vote of five in

         14  the affirmative, zero in the negative and no

         15  abstention, all items are adopted.  Council Members

         16  please sign the Committee reports. Thank you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  We're leaving the

         18  vote open for the other Members of the Committee who

         19  have not been able to get here, and when they get

         20  here, they will be able to address the public.  At

         21  this moment, I open the panel for questions from any

         22  one of the Members of the Committee.  No?  I have

         23  questions.

         24                 In regard of, Dr. David Shaffer, in

         25  the beginning of your statement, you make clear that
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          2  antidepressant increase the risk of suicidal

          3  thinking and behavior.  I want you to make, to

          4  clarify that statement.  Does it, can be utilized in

          5  both ways and I want to make sure that the messages

          6  that are coming out of here are messages that are

          7  carefully stated, particularly because there's a

          8  camera projecting this in the tv and I don't want

          9  misunderstandings of what this is, statement about.

         10                 DR. SHAFFER:  When the drug studies

         11  are done, there are two ways of collecting

         12  information.  Every time that the patient comes to

         13  the drug studies, say every six weeks or every four

         14  weeks, depends on how often they do that, there are

         15  systematic questions about thinking about suicide.

         16  On all of those measures, the studies have

         17  systematically shown that with treatment, they think

         18  less about suicide as the study progresses.

         19                 But, there's also a second way in

         20  which information is collected.  If you're coming to

         21  the doctor with your, in your study, you can offer

         22  information without being asked.  So, that say for

         23  example a parent or the youngster says, well, I've

         24  been thinking about suicide, or I tried to make a

         25  suicide attempt last week, that generates what's
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          2  called an adverse event report.  What these studies

          3  have shown is that there are more adverse event

          4  reports suggesting suicidal attempts or thinking in

          5  the group that had treatment.  But, there's no

          6  evidence that if you actually look at the

          7  questionnaires, which are given systematically every

          8  time they come, that there's any increase in

          9  suicidality.

         10                 So, what you have is you have

         11  information which is not in agreement with each

         12  other, and the one possibility is that the reason

         13  why you get more adverse event reports, volunteering

         14  of suicidal thoughts or behavior is that adolescents

         15  typically keep this to themselves.  They, normally,

         16  it's a very secretive kind of thought and behavior.

         17  And, it's quite possible that what the

         18  antidepressants do is they make you less inhibited.

         19  They make you less uptight and you talk more or you

         20  volunteer more.

         21                 So, we don't know, yet, whether, in

         22  fact, there really is an increase or whether there's

         23  just a change in the way that the child behaves when

         24  they're -- child, they're all adolescents, we're not

         25  dealing with any young children, except in one
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          2  study, that we just don't know what the real truth

          3  is.  But, what's interesting is that the effect is

          4  very, very small and only one study was

          5  statistically significant.

          6                 We're talking about ideation and

          7  attempts.  We're not talking about deaths and that

          8  when we look hard for evidence that these drugs,

          9  which have been prescribed in massively increased

         10  way, are causing deaths, we see the opposite.  We

         11  see that deaths have declined.

         12                 So, it's a very troubling situation

         13  where we don't really know what's going on and we

         14  just, one possibility is that we're picking up the

         15  early stages of recovery, and another possibility is

         16  that often these drugs are started when people are

         17  their most depressed or most suicidal and that maybe

         18  you get suicidal behavior occurring before the drugs

         19  have had time to have an effect.  But, all we're

         20  talking about is attempts or thoughts.  We're not

         21  talking about deaths.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  But, isn't that

         23  true that when you deal with a population that is

         24  prescribed this medications --

         25                 DR. SHAFFER:  Yes.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  -- To begin with,

          3  they are populations that are set aside with

          4  suicidal.

          5                 DR. SHAFFER:  About 60 percent of

          6  teenagers who come with a major depressive disorder

          7  have had suicidal thoughts at the time that they

          8  come for treatment, and it's estimated between 25

          9  and 35 percent have made a suicide attempt.  And, in

         10  a very big TAD (phonetic) study, where they tried to

         11  keep those kids out, 30 percent were suicidal at the

         12  time they got in.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Dr. Melvin Oatis,

         14  walk me through the protocol in which you guys

         15  decide to prescribe this medication.  What are the

         16  prerequisites that you base decisions to put people

         17  in this medication?  And, also walk us through over

         18  the question of prescribing medication to somebody

         19  that you didn't supposed to do it.  What are the

         20  consequences of that and how this is dealt with?

         21                 DR. OATIS:  Okay.  In terms of

         22  deciding whether or not to prescribe medication,

         23  first off, as many of the panelists have talked

         24  about, is establishing a diagnosis.  So, if I'm

         25  establishing a diagnosis of, for instance here,
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          2  depression, I'm very, taking a very detailed and

          3  careful history, not only from the adolescent in

          4  question, or the patient, but also from parents.

          5  So, I'm getting information from various sources.

          6  I'm getting information from the teachers,

          7  information from the parents, and information from

          8  the child or the adolescent.

          9                 With that information, I'm comparing

         10  all those sources and seeing if I'm getting a

         11  unified, sort of unified diagnosis in terms of

         12  information.  And, looking at the criteria for

         13  making the diagnosis of depression, there are

         14  certain symptoms.  I'm looking at hopeless or

         15  helpless, whether or not the person feels suicidal

         16  and I must echo Dr. Shaffer in talking about

         17  suicidality, suicidality or suicidal ideation is

         18  part of a depressive syndrome.  So, it's a symptom

         19  itself.

         20                 You're also looking at aspects of how

         21  the patient or person or child is doing in life.

         22  Are they impaired?  Not only must they have

         23  symptoms, but they also have to be impaired, meaning

         24  they aren't able to do the things that they need to

         25  do in school or at home or other places or work.
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          2  So, they're being impaired.  They're not learning.

          3  They're not doing the things that are necessary for

          4  them.  There's impairment in terms of their sleep.

          5  They may not be getting out of bed or they may be

          6  oversleeping or undersleeping.  They may not be

          7  eating, that, not enough to sustain themselves.  Or,

          8  they may be grossly overeating.  That's another

          9  thing that they may be doing.  They may feel

         10  excessively guilty about things that aren't even

         11  things that they should be feeling guilty about.

         12  They think, seem like there's no way out, no way of

         13  doing things.

         14                 And, the thing also to think about in

         15  terms of the impairment is that this has gone on for

         16  an extended period of time.  This isn't like waking

         17  up and saying, oh I feel blue today.  This is a

         18  sustained period of time that they're feeling these

         19  symptoms.

         20                 The other thing about adolescents is

         21  it's a time in which they're undergoing a lot of

         22  change in terms of learning about the world itself

         23  and their own identity.  So, this also adds in terms

         24  of the heightened sense of symptoms.  So, they can

         25  look very different in an adolescent and a child
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          2  than in an adult.

          3                 So, in looking at all that and taking

          4  a very detailed and very careful history from

          5  several sources, I'm making a decision of whether or

          6  not I'm establishing a diagnosis of depression or

          7  anxiety or something that I'm going to treat. Then,

          8  once I've come up with a diagnosis and I'm fairly

          9  sound of that, I'm then reflecting that back to the

         10  patient and then reflecting that back to the parent

         11  as to why I'm making that diagnosis and making it,

         12  making it very clear to them how, why I'm saying

         13  that they have depression.

         14                 Sometimes, in that, is the first time

         15  that the parents are getting a first- hand bit of

         16  information or knowledge from their child about how

         17  real and how severe those symptoms of depression

         18  have been, because, you know, they're going about

         19  their daily life and doing what they think they need

         20  to do, the parents are seeing a difference, but they

         21  don't know how to go about getting the answers to

         22  the questions, so that they can actually establish a

         23  diagnosis.

         24                 So, now we've established a diagnosis

         25  of depression.  Then we're going to talk about
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          2  treatment options and those treatment options, as

          3  Dr. Shaffer has also mentioned earlier in the

          4  testimony, cognitive behavioral therapy, actually

          5  having someone sit down and talk about the

          6  cognitions that they're having and thoughts that

          7  they're having, how to change those thoughts, that's

          8  part of the therapy.  How to go about going about

          9  their daily lives in school, et cetera, things that

         10  they need to do.  That's part of the therapy.

         11                 Also, depending upon how profound or

         12  how impaired they are, medication may be in order at

         13  that time as well and I'll talk about them, talk to

         14  them about the treatment options. At that same time,

         15  in talking about the medication, I also talk about

         16  adverse events.  Now, those adverse events can be

         17  just like when you're prescribing aspirin or someone

         18  takes something in their medicine cabinet, adverse

         19  events are possible.  But, an adverse event from

         20  this medication can, can, you know, be far more

         21  profound than that.  So, we're explaining all that

         22  before we're actually giving a medication.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Then, let me ask

         24  both of you the following thing:  What you said

         25  that, and I'm going to say the vast majority,
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          2  because I know that in every profession are

          3  individuals who violate the ethics of it, you know,

          4  I mean, you cannot expect to have everybody to be

          5  obeying the ethics, that's the reason we have them,

          6  right? To guide people.  Would you say that the vast

          7  majority of doctors out there follow that protocol

          8  that you just described, both of you will say that?

          9  That they follow that and that -- I'm going to ask

         10  you a separate question from the point of view of

         11  something else, meaning from the other side.

         12                 DR. OATIS:  In terms of following

         13  that protocol, it's going to be vastly different

         14  whether you come to see a child psychologist, a

         15  psychiatrist or an internist as to whose prescribing

         16  the medication.  It goes more to the question of

         17  when you were talking about overdiagnosis or overly

         18  medicating someone.  It depends upon who you go and

         19  see.

         20                 I would say that the vast majority of

         21  child psychiatrists and psychologists that you come

         22  to see are going to take a very detailed history.

         23  If you go and see an internist or a primary care

         24  physician, a person that knows the family very well,

         25  they're going to take a history, but they may not
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          2  have the same amount of time that someone in a

          3  different profession may take.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Yes, but that's

          5  not my question.  My question is if both of you

          6  think that in the profession, because I'm talking,

          7  I'm asking you a question based on the ethics --

          8                 DR. OATIS:  Okay.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  -- Of that

         10  profession that you hold --

         11                 DR. SHAFFER:  I think that --

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  I'm asking both

         13  of you, as representatives of that profession, do

         14  you think that the vast majority of psychiatrists

         15  and child psychologists and people who are entitled

         16  to prescribe this medication, make these decisions

         17  based on a protocol as the one that you described?

         18  Both of you.

         19                 DR. SHAFFER:  I think that most child

         20  psychiatrists will establish a diagnosis before they

         21  initiative treatment.  I think that there will be a

         22  difference, and that some of them will initiate

         23  treatment straight away and others will say, I want

         24  to see you every week or every two weeks for a

         25  couple of months and see how you, how things turn
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          2  out.  There is a difference there.  It depends a

          3  little bit on their reading of the tolerance of the

          4  family and so on and so forth.

          5                 But, I think that the sort of cases

          6  that we hear about from Vera and her information of

          7  treating -- I've never seen a very young child

          8  treated with an antidepressant. Obviously, there are

          9  people somewhere that do it, but it's certainly

         10  something that I don't know any child psychiatrist

         11  who wouldn't frown upon that and disapprove of that

         12  and wonder what on earth the person was thinking

         13  about.

         14                 It's also, I think, very important to

         15  say that the drug companies have been extremely

         16  reticent.  They often are a good source of

         17  information, but as far as children are concerned,

         18  the drug company representatives who visit

         19  pediatricians are not allowed to discuss

         20  antidepressants with the pediatricians. They're not

         21  allowed to give them that information, because

         22  they're not approved for children, and that Prozac

         23  has lost it's patent and when a drug has, it's lost

         24  it's patent, the manufacturer has no interest in

         25  selling it or educating people about it.  So, that
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          2  what we're dealing with here, we're dealing with, in

          3  a sense, a drug which has lost its market, lost its

          4  educational basis and, you know, at that point,

          5  people are, do do crazy things.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Okay, and in your

          7  opinion doctor, you think that the majority of the

          8  psychiatrists, psychologists do follow that

          9  protocol?

         10                 DR. OATIS:  They definitely follow a

         11  protocol in terms of establishing a diagnosis, yes.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  In terms of

         13  establishing  a diagnosis.

         14                 DR. OATIS:  In terms of establishing

         15  a diagnosis-

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Okay.

         17                 DR. OATIS:  -- And then proceeding

         18  with treatment.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Okay.  Then in

         20  regard of people who have experiences with family

         21  members or patients, in your opinions, your

         22  experience has been what? That the psychiatrists,

         23  the psychologists proceed with the protocol that was

         24  described here?  I want you to be fair and

         25  objective, because I know that we can get angry with
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          2  doctors, but let's be fair and objective in what

          3  you're going to present here.

          4                 MS. PORR:  In nine years of operating

          5  a help- line and nine years of collecting data on

          6  every single call that comes into our office and

          7  being funded by New York City to operate that help-

          8  line, my experience is that the exemplary

          9  methodology that was just described is absolutely

         10  not followed out there in the trenches.  They are

         11  not diagnosed.  They are inappropriately diagnosed.

         12                 I had a family with a young boy of 15

         13  on 60 milligrams of Valium a day and the family

         14  wondering why he slept all day, and when I tried to

         15  intervene with a psychiatrist, I was told, who are

         16  you, you're not a doctor.  I have heard stories of

         17  kids on Clonopin.  They're a problem and they make a

         18  lot of, they're very anxious, well, we'll give them

         19  Clonopin.  They are not diagnosed.  They don't

         20  follow a treatment protocol and medication, whatever

         21  it is, is not a magic wand.  You have to have

         22  treatment along with the medication and it's not

         23  being done.

         24                 So, I think that what you accomplish

         25  this way is that you put a kid on medication,
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          2  usually, for example, with borderlines, they have to

          3  have very low doses titrated.  This is not what's

          4  happening.  They get overloaded with medication, the

          5  kid walks around like a zombie and then says, I

          6  don't want to take medication ever again.  So, now

          7  you have a non- compliance adolescent growing into a

          8  non- compliant adult.

          9                 I think that the opportunity that you

         10  have with a youngster, when they come in for

         11  psychiatric care is the most important opportunity

         12  we have for the sake of the child, for the sake of

         13  the family, and for the sake of the public health

         14  funding of the City, and the protocol that was just

         15  described is not what I hear almost ever.

         16                 In the City of New York, in terms of

         17  medication, I have two doctors, one, two, that I

         18  send people to, one is Larry Seaver (phonetic) at

         19  Mount Sinai, who is, by far, one of the greatest

         20  doctors in this field, and one of his people who

         21  works with him.  In the City of New York, I can find

         22  two doctors who prescribe, and for children I send

         23  them to Steve Donovan (phonetic) at Columbia, who

         24  does studies on children with medication.  The

         25  situation is a catastrophe, not because of the
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          2  medication, but because the field does not follow

          3  it's own ethical standards.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Yes.

          5                 MS. SHARAV:  I, in this I agree

          6  totally with Valerie that the standard is mostly a

          7  fiction.  People are getting diagnosed on the

          8  Internet for ADHD, for depression, and let me assure

          9  you that everyone in this room who takes one of

         10  those questionnaires, one of them is at NYU website,

         11  you're going to find that there's something wrong

         12  with you, that you're mentally ill and you're going

         13  to diagnose yourself.

         14                 Now, diagnosing mental illness, as we

         15  know, is totally subjective.  There are no

         16  scientific tools.  There's no blood test, there's

         17  nothing objective that is verifiable independently.

         18  That's one of the reason that what Valerie described

         19  all the other diagnoses that preceded the children

         20  before, borderline, the same holds true for everyone

         21  in the mental health system, one way or another.

         22                 You get diagnosis for depression, for

         23  bipolar, for schizoeffective, for ADHD, adult ADHD

         24  and a combination.  We have horrors of cocktail drug

         25  prescribing.  We haven't touched on that.  One drug
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          2  causes adverse effects, you take a second one to

          3  offset those and then the third one for the second

          4  drug that causes, and this goes on and on.  There

          5  are children on six drugs.  Some of the drugs in the

          6  same family of drugs.  It is absolute bedlam.  What

          7  I'm suggesting, in part, is not that all the doctors

          8  are just incompetent.  The pharmaceutical companies

          9  only want one thing, prescribe drugs, as many and as

         10  high a dose the better.  That's where their profits

         11  are.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  I must clarify

         13  that's your opinion.  I have a different opinion in

         14  regard to certain things that you said and some

         15  opinions that I agree with you.

         16                 I want to make clear that from my

         17  point of view as the Chair of this Committee, yes,

         18  our scientific methods in which you can demonstrate,

         19  for example, when you map the brain of a person who

         20  suffered from schizophrenia over years, you will see

         21  clear indications of the damage to that brain and

         22  not a person who have been on medication, a person

         23  that only had been ill from the illnesses.

         24                 Then, although I agree with certain

         25  things that you said, I want to clarify that from my
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          2  side, I have disagreement with that and I'm going to

          3  allow you to speak at this moment.  But, after this

          4  intervention, this panel is going to be over, I

          5  promise you that we're going to continue with this

          6  issue because I think it's important.  I am

          7  thinking, as the Chair of this Committee, that,

          8  perhaps, we should have a forum in this Council, in

          9  which we bring professionals and family members and

         10  individuals who have experience this issue to have a

         11  forum on this issue in the open to be here in this

         12  Council and project this question further.  Because

         13  I think it's worth it to continue looking into it,

         14  and Council Member James was right in bringing this

         15  issue forward for us to explore and find answers to

         16  it. Doctor.

         17                 DR. OATIS:  Very quick points.  Often

         18  times, what happens what you get to discussing

         19  certain things that come to public awareness, are

         20  the extremes, either the people that did very

         21  poorly, or the people that did very well, and

         22  there's a lot in between.

         23                 Secondly, the number of people that

         24  are actually treated with medications and actually

         25  given the diagnosis is an under- representation of
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          2  the people that are out there are afflicted.

          3                 Third, in terms of the people, in

          4  terms of getting medication and having to really

          5  work with these families, often times, people are

          6  very resistant to actually going on medication is

          7  something that we struggle with and it isn't the

          8  first thing out of everyone's, as you pointed out,

          9  every doctor isn't quick to always prescribe

         10  medication.  But, it is, it is something that we

         11  use.  It is something that's in our armamentarium

         12  that's quite helpful and effective, if given

         13  appropriately.

         14                 So, the science that goes along with

         15  prescribing these medications, often times, is, is

         16  lagging.  We do need more science.  We do need more

         17  studies.  The pharmaceutical industry has been

         18  reluctant, as the rest of the world has been

         19  reluctant, to do any studies with children.  It is a

         20  different day and age. Before, we were taking

         21  information from the adult population and

         22  extrapolating that to child and saying whether or

         23  not it works.

         24                 Now, we're having to look at the

         25  science and saying, do these medications make a
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          2  difference in children's lives? And we're looking at

          3  the studies and often times, some of the studies are

          4  flawed.  So, I would appeal to you that we do need

          5  the time and we do need to make the efforts to

          6  actually look at this to see if there is a

          7  difference.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Council Member

          9  James.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  This issue

         11  became relevant to me when I started studying

         12  children, particularly children in special ed. And

         13  what I noticed was that a significant number of

         14  children of color were being prescribed medication.

         15  So, the question that I have, and I don't know if

         16  this is the appropriate forum, perhaps at our next,

         17  the follow- up Hearing, is whether or not this issue

         18  has, cuts across class and race, or did, or have the

         19  professionals seen a disproportionate number of

         20  children of color being overprescribed?

         21                 MS. SHARAV:  I can say once and that

         22  is that if you study the foster care population,

         23  probably in every state, you will find your answer.

         24  It is a horror.  It is an absolute disgrace.  Texas,

         25  Florida, New Jersey, you name it, one ought to

                                                            62

          1  COMMITTEE ON MENTAL HEALTH

          2  demand a study of New York's foster care population.

          3    Children are being prescribed heavy duty, both the

          4  antidepressants and the antipsychotics.  These are

          5  used as chemical restraints.  Children are, as if

          6  they're discarded children.  Their lives, their

          7  brains, their, everything about them is being

          8  destroyed.  A few years on these drugs, they can't

          9  think, they have no control, some of them, in fact,

         10  become incontinent.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  But, do we have

         12  proof of this?

         13                 MS. SHARAV:  Sure.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Of statements,

         15  yes.

         16                 DR. SHAFFER:  I think that there are

         17  two pieces of data which are relevant.  There has

         18  been an examination in the prescription of Ritalin

         19  across different ethnic groups and different social

         20  class groups, and looking at kids who meet the

         21  criteria for attention deficit disorder.  And, what

         22  you get there is, I'm afraid, what you get in many

         23  fields, that the kids who are most likely to be

         24  treated are white middle or upper class kids, and

         25  that there's a selective undertreatment of African
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          2  American and minority kids who have the same

          3  symptoms.

          4                 The second thing is that in the study

          5  by Olfson (phonetic), which looked at the

          6  relationship between prescribing antidepressants and

          7  suicide, the group that got the major benefit from

          8  high prescription rates of SSRI's was African

          9  American males.  So, that's a group that actually

         10  has shown the steepest decline in the suicide rate,

         11  and that seems to be particularly related to whether

         12  or not African American males were being prescribe

         13  antidepressants.  Again, they tend to be under

         14  recipients of most kinds of treatment.  But, so the

         15  evidence is not of, is one of neglect, rather than

         16  of overtreatment.

         17                 DR. OATIS:  Two sides of that coin.

         18  In terms of the foster care system and the ways in

         19  which you see a number of children of color being

         20  treated, sometimes many of them do receive a number

         21  of medications, and sometimes, it depends upon where

         22  they're being treated.  So, it all boils down to

         23  access of care, and often times, children of color

         24  do not have the same venues or access.  So, often

         25  times, they're not treated and the families don't
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          2  have the, the education regarding, the

          3  psychoeducation regarding some of the illness.  So,

          4  often times, many of them are undertreated and you

          5  do have some that are treated incorrectly, yes.

          6            MS. PORR:  I just would like to say that

          7  mental illness is an equal opportunity illness and

          8  it affects all kinds of people and the, our

          9  experience, the white middle class is just as

         10  overmedicated and just as without treatment as

         11  anyone else.  In fact, some of the ways they get the

         12  better treatment is if they get into the mental

         13  health system itself, rather than going through

         14  private people.

         15                 I think that one of the things that's

         16  coming out here is that we do not have incompetent

         17  doctors.  We have overloaded doctors, who have too

         18  much work and are not obliged to get current with

         19  what's being done.  I work very closely with NIMH

         20  and the amount of time it takes to get research into

         21  treatment is ten to 15 years.  That is too long and

         22  too many lives lost in the process of waiting ten to

         23  15 years.

         24                 I think that what we need in the City

         25  of New York is education of professionals on current
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          2  evidence- based treatments and some way of ensuring

          3  that those evidence- based treatments are in

          4  practice.  Because, what we do know is enough to

          5  ensure a better class of treatment.  But, it's not

          6  being done because nobody, it's very hard to change.

          7    Try putting your watch on your other hand, it's

          8  really annoying and change is difficult, even for

          9  professionals.  So, we need some kind of a

         10  mechanism, where we force professionals to learn new

         11  ways, and I think that way, we can get the benefits

         12  of the science that we already have.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Council Member

         14  Stewart.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  Thank you

         16  Madam Chair.  I think there is something that we

         17  missed in this discussion. First, one of the main

         18  points that we should look at is that appropriate

         19  diagnosis and many times, often we find that a

         20  parent may not understand that the GP is not the one

         21  to have your child diagnosed and be treated for some

         22  mental illness.  So, they may ask to have something

         23  done or some prescription for that child and there's

         24  where we find that a lot of the, our young folks are

         25  being treated inappropriately.
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          2                 Secondly, we find that after that

          3  child has been, you know, treated maybe for the

          4  first time, you start that child on the medication,

          5  just because they may have some behavioral problem

          6  in terms of activity, whatever, without being

          7  diagnosed properly.

          8                 So, they start them on this

          9  medication, which eventually now they have to

         10  continue because you see that the medication may put

         11  them in a line, keep them quiet or whatever. Now,

         12  you have diagnosed a child, put them on medication

         13  which may not be correct, and that medication might

         14  be a medication that now will then be a medication

         15  that that child has to be on for a long period of

         16  time, which then becomes a problem in terms of

         17  damage to the brain and other things.

         18                 Along with that, a lot of these

         19  medications we have what we call side effects, and

         20  we also have what we call interactions with other

         21  medication that might be correctly prescribed.  The

         22  child may have some other problem, maybe with a cold

         23  or something like that and you may give, and there's

         24  certain cold medications that may have some alcohol

         25  in it, which may interact with the medication that's
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          2  already been prescribed, which is not good for that

          3  child.

          4                 So, all these things compound and

          5  then you get, when you do your stats now, you get

          6  the stats as if that child has been someone who's

          7  mentally ill and being overprescribed and all of

          8  that, because of the fact that in the beginning we

          9  had inappropriate diagnosis and treatment.

         10                 Along with that, we know that when

         11  you go to a doctor, sometimes, what happen? They

         12  give you a cocktail to really cover up everything,

         13  because they don't want to be bothered with, they

         14  say, well it may be this or it may be that and all

         15  these little things, you get medications to cover up

         16  all, just because one or two symptoms and you're

         17  trying to cover that to protect yourself.  The fact

         18  is, that's inappropriate diagnosis and treatment.

         19                 With that type of behavior with most

         20  of us, most doctors, is that we create a bigger

         21  problem, and by creating the, the fact that

         22  sometimes the pharmaceuticals may give you the

         23  medication that is free.  They give you samples to

         24  start this out, and by giving you the samples, you

         25  just say, well, we have some medication here, why
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          2  not take this for the next month and see how he

          3  does.

          4                 By doing that without having the

          5  appropriate diagnosis, without going through the

          6  channel, without doing as my good friend here

          7  described, it means then, you have already done

          8  something.  And, if you see any semblance of,

          9  results that looks good, you continue that treatment

         10  and you may not have diagnosed, you may not have

         11  really done the right thing as far as that child is

         12  concerned.

         13                 So, with that, we have a lot of work

         14  to do.  We have quite a lot of work to do in terms

         15  of medication with children.  It's not like a

         16  surgeon or someone else who may just, you can see

         17  the physical results.  In mental health, a lot of

         18  times, you don't actually see physical results.  You

         19  see some result that is, the symptoms may change,

         20  but it may not be a physical result.

         21                 If you have a mole and you want to

         22  remove it, you do surgery and you remove it.  That's

         23  physical.  But, mental behavior, you make, if you

         24  stop giving the medication, it may not disappear.

         25  That behavior may come back.  So, we have to look at
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          2  all those factors to know whether it's the effects

          3  of the medication and the side effects, the results

          4  that you want to get and the side effects, you have

          5  to weigh that so that, whether it's beneficial or

          6  not before you can do that.

          7                 So, I feel that we should have the,

          8  maybe the FDA or whoever, put some labels and put

          9  some real good guidelines as to what, looking at

         10  these medications, any type of these medications

         11  that you going to prescribe that has all these side

         12  effects that creates a problem, it should be much

         13  more stringently diagnosed and used.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  At this moment, I

         15  want to thank this panel.  I want to ask you if you

         16  will accept another invitation from the Council and

         17  this occasion would be about having a forum with

         18  more in- depth presentation in order for us to

         19  continue to educate the public about this issue?

         20                 I am concerned about the

         21  misinformation and lack of education about this.

         22  I'm very preoccupied with this and I would like to

         23  make sure that we do as much as we can to educate

         24  the public in whatever way the balance go.  Would

         25  you be willing to come back?  Thank you very much
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          2  and thank you for all the work that each and every

          3  one of you is doing out there to help everyone who

          4  suffers from mental illness or depression.

          5                 Next panel please.

          6                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE:  For the next

          7  panel, we will be hearing testimony on Resolution

          8  Number 237 and I will ask the panel to refrain to

          9  their testimony for three minutes or under. We have

         10  now Mr. Jeff Rondinaro, Marguerite Gebhardt, and

         11  Jack Beck.  Please.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Council Member

         13  Brewer, can you introduce yourself please?

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Gale Brewer,

         15  City Council, West Side of Manhattan, thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  And I left the

         17  record open for you to vote.  I'm going to ask

         18  somebody to send for it.  Yes, somebody's looking

         19  for the man, and he's coming back, okay?  Yes.

         20                 MR. RONDINERO:  Good afternoon

         21  Councilwoman Lopez and Members of the Committee.

         22  I'm Jeff Rondinaro --

         23                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE:  I'm sorry, let

         24  me swear you in.

         25                 MR. RONDINERO:  Oh, I'm sorry.
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          2                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE:  Yes, can you

          3  please raise your right hand, and will you swear or

          4  affirm that the testimony you will provide will be

          5  truthful in all concerns?

          6                 MR. RONDINERO:  Yes.

          7                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE:  Yes.  Can you

          8  please begin? And please state your name before you

          9  start.

         10                 MR. RONDINERO:  Yes.  I am Jeff

         11  Rondinero.  The Director of Health Care Services for

         12  Samaritan Village.  On behalf of Samaritan Village,

         13  I'd like to thank you for the opportunity to address

         14  you today.  We applaud Resolution 237, which

         15  supports comprehensive programs for the diagnosis

         16  and treatment of Hepatitis C and educational efforts

         17  for substance abusers and persons with psychiatric

         18  disabilities.

         19                 Samaritan operates seven drug- free

         20  residential facilities with a combined capacity of

         21  nearly 1,400 beds, including a mens shelter, an

         22  outpatient substance abuse program and a senior

         23  citizens center.  At Samaritan Village, men and

         24  women who suffer from the disease of substance

         25  abuse, receive comprehensive rehabilitation services
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          2  while living and working in a safe, secure

          3  environment for approximately 12 to 18 months.

          4                 In compliance with the New York State

          5  Office of Substance Abuse Service's, or otherwise

          6  known as OASAS, policy, mandating drug treatment

          7  providers to make a strong commitment to develop a

          8  medically sound Hepatitis C control program,

          9  Samaritan and our health partner, Project Samaritan

         10  Health Service, have implemented a comprehensive

         11  program addressing all of the OASAS recommendations.

         12                 It is Samaritan Village policy to

         13  test every client for HIV and Hepatitis C at

         14  admission.  During a recent 12 month period, 445, or

         15  21 percent of all clients tested positive for HCV.

         16  445 individuals, 21 percent of everyone who came to

         17  us tested positive for Hepatitis C.  About 93

         18  percent of those folks went on to a confirmed

         19  diagnosis of Hepatitis C and were offered the

         20  opportunity to begin treatment.

         21                 Although Hepatitis C is highly

         22  treatable, the side effects of treatment include

         23  fatigue and depression, and can be difficult to

         24  endure and costly to treat.  Effective treatment

         25  demands a significant investment in expert medical
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          2  supervision, nutritional support, education and

          3  intensive case management. Until Medicaid

          4  eligibility is determined for each client, Samaritan

          5  Village and Project Samaritan Health Service absorb

          6  the cost of providing this care.

          7                 For those who are ultimately

          8  determined to be Medicaid eligible, the wait time

          9  can be between three and 12 months.  This lag time

         10  allows the disease to progress and substantially

         11  reduces our window of opportunity for treating the

         12  disease while the client is in residence and where

         13  we can monitor medication compliance.

         14                 About 15 percent of Samaritan's

         15  clients never become Medicaid eligible for a variety

         16  of reasons.  They may lack the necessary

         17  documentation, they may be enrolled in managed care

         18  programs and there are other restrictions that are

         19  imposed by New York State that make them remain

         20  ineligible.  We never withhold treatment for lack of

         21  benefit.

         22                 As the HCV prevalence increases,

         23  we're concerned that we will be unable to provide

         24  the quality care needed for Hepatitis C infected

         25  clients without shifting resources from our other
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          2  clients.  Samaritan is committed to creating

          3  innovative solutions that address the emerging

          4  Hepatitis C epidemic.

          5                 In 2003, as a result of discussions

          6  with the New York State Department of Health, AIDS

          7  Institute, OASAS and New York Medicaid, changes were

          8  made to Medicaid policy that allowed for

          9  reimbursement of Hepatitis C diagnostic testing.

         10                 In 2004, Samaritan got a small

         11  planning grant from the United Hospital Fund and we

         12  have developed a treatment program exclusively for

         13  substance abusers with Hepatitis C. We're currently

         14  seeking funding to implement this first of its kind

         15  program, and we've developed a program which can be

         16  replicable throughout the United States.

         17                 There is much left to accomplish.

         18  Lack of public policy on both the state and national

         19  level hinder our ability to provide prevention

         20  education and treatment of Hepatitis C. Samaritan

         21  requests your support by passing the vital

         22  Resolution and salutes your forward thinking about

         23  growing Hepatitis C crisis.  My colleague,

         24  Marguerite Gebhardt, will talk about advocacy,

         25  public health and funding issues.

                                                            75

          1  COMMITTEE ON MENTAL HEALTH

          2                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  At this moment I

          3  need to stop for one minute for Council Member

          4  Brewer to vote, and you have a beautiful name.

          5                 MS. GEBHARDT:  Thank you, and so do

          6  you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Council Member.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Aye on all.

          9  Thank you very much and I wish to be added to

         10  Resolution 237.  Thank you very much.

         11                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Vote now stands at

         12  six in the affirmative, zero in the negative and no

         13  abstentions.  Thank you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  And on top of

         15  that, you're very smart.

         16                 MS. GEBHARDT:  Good afternoon

         17  Councilwoman Lopez and Committee Members.  Thank you

         18  for drafting this important Resolution.  It is

         19  highly commendable.  My name is Marguerite Gebhardt

         20  and I'm the Executive Director of Project Samaritan

         21  Health Services.  We're a federally qualified health

         22  center and we provide care to Samaritan Village and

         23  community clients.

         24                 PSHS has a successful Hepatitis C

         25  treatment program that contains all required
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          2  components of care, including a comprehensive

          3  program to maintain an advocacy position on a local,

          4  state and federal level, to promote HCV awareness,

          5  standards of care and funding.

          6                 HCV is a highly communicable disease.

          7    It is of epidemic proportions, tending toward a

          8  four- fold increase in the next decade.  HCV remains

          9  under- reported and under- tested.  It is causing

         10  significant increases in cirrhosis and end- stage

         11  liver disease and is both the leading cause of

         12  cancer of the liver and liver transplants.

         13                 There are many similarities between

         14  Hepatitis C and HIV.  But, individuals with HIV are

         15  guaranteed treatment because there is public policy,

         16  funding mechanisms and laws that guarantee that

         17  treatment.  Health and drug treatment providers are

         18  required to treat this increasingly overwhelming HCV

         19  epidemic in the absence of public policy and

         20  funding, and without strategies to better prevent,

         21  diagnosis and treat the disease to high risk

         22  individuals.

         23                 HCV affects all ages and classes of

         24  society. Members of this Committee would be shocked

         25  to learn that PSHS provides medical care to an
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          2  adolescent residential drug treatment program where

          3  15 percent of the residents in this program are

          4  actively infected with the HCV virus.

          5                 HCV, unlike HIV, is curable, with a

          6  cost of drug treatment for 24 to 48 weeks.  Law

          7  makers and medical providers have a responsibility

          8  and duty to protect and promote the public health.

          9  The New York State Department of Health and AIDS

         10  Institute convened a Viral Hepatitis Strategic

         11  Planning Summit in 2003.  With about 45 of my

         12  colleagues, we went to Albany to write a draft of

         13  the Hepatitis Strategic Plan that focused on four

         14  areas, primary prevention, including access to

         15  testing, counseling, vaccination, and treatment;

         16  education; surveillance and research; and medical

         17  case management.  This draft, due in December 2003,

         18  has yet to appear, even with continued pressure. The

         19  release of a state- wide Hepatitis plan is one of

         20  the essential first steps in the development and

         21  implementation of a public policy to treat this

         22  communicable disease.

         23                 Communicable diseases do not

         24  understand budgets and shortfalls and our citizens

         25  are not yet enough aware of the growing Hepatitis C
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          2  epidemic.  Law makers and regulators need to become

          3  increasingly aware that an effective HCV prevention,

          4  education, early intervention and access to care

          5  strategy are key to costly hospitalizations, are key

          6  to preventing costly hospitalizations and treatments

          7  that result from either untreated Hepatitis C or a

          8  delay in treatment.

          9                 As a representative of my many

         10  colleagues, I would strongly support your efforts to

         11  seek approval from the City Council for this

         12  important Resolution.  I would also like to offer to

         13  you and your Committee the assistance of our

         14  organization and our colleagues involved in the HCV

         15  epidemic in any way you think we might be useful.

         16  Thank you.

         17                 MR. BECK:  Good afternoon.  My name

         18  is Jack Beck. I am Director of the Prison Visiting

         19  Project at the Correctional Association of New York

         20  and I will be testifying about Hepatitis C in the

         21  New York State prisons.  I want to thank the Council

         22  for inviting us today and particularly support

         23  Resolution 237, which addresses the important issue

         24  of Hepatitis C care in New York State for individual

         25  substance abuse and mental health problems.
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          2                 The Correctional Association, founded

          3  in 1844, is a privately funded non- profit agency

          4  that conducts research and policy analysis and

          5  advocacy on criminal justice issues.  During our

          6  monthly prison inspections and in nearly 1,000

          7  inmate letters we receive each year from prisoners,

          8  poor mental, medical care is one of the most common

          9  complaints.

         10                 The New York State Department of

         11  Correctional Services confines 64,500 inmates in 70

         12  facilities throughout the State.  Approximately

         13  28,500 inmates were released into the community

         14  during last year.  The essential characteristics of

         15  DOCS health care system is that each of the 70

         16  prisons is an island onto itself and health care

         17  provided at any facility is subject to little

         18  oversight by DOCS, that's the Department of

         19  Correctional Services, and no effective review by

         20  any outside agency.

         21                 At most prisons, there are not enough

         22  skilled providers and there is no mandatory training

         23  program or minimal requirements for doctors, PA's

         24  and nurse practitioners, who are forced to care for

         25  a large number of inmates suffering from serious
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          2  illnesses.  There is no effective chronic care

          3  program or system to monitor the complex care

          4  required to treat patients with chronic illnesses.

          5                 Nationally, prison health and public

          6  health officials are arriving at the long overdue

          7  conclusion that there is a nexus between prison

          8  health care and public health concerns. The prison

          9  population generally consists of many individuals

         10  who had little or no health care in the community

         11  and, not surprisingly, are suffering from a higher

         12  percentage of chronic illnesses.

         13                 A study done comparing the jail and

         14  prison population in the United States that passed

         15  through a correctional facility in 1996 to the

         16  entire U.S. Population who are infected with certain

         17  chronic illnesses, found that nearly one- third of

         18  all those suffering from Hepatitis C passed through

         19  a correctional facility in that single year.  Almost

         20  one- third passed through a prison or jail in a

         21  single year.

         22                 Prison and jails can be a public

         23  health opportunity to identify, educate and treat a

         24  significant portion of the public who suffer from

         25  Hepatitis C.  Unfortunately, this opportunity is
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          2  being lost because many infected inmates are not

          3  identified and those known to be infected are not

          4  adequately treated.

          5                 I gave you a very substantial

          6  testimony.  I'm really going to try to summarize it

          7  in a brief details here, but bear with me a little

          8  bit.

          9                 The care of DOCS inmates suffering

         10  from Hepatitis C is woefully inadequate.  The fact

         11  is that DOCS is rationing care for inmates who have

         12  chronic Hepatitis C.  But, rationing that care alone

         13  would not justify condemnation of DOCS policies on

         14  Hepatitis C.  Rather, it is that DOCS is not

         15  identifying and treating those patients most in need

         16  of care and is excluding patients for reasons that

         17  cannot by justified by good medical practices on

         18  national standards of care.

         19                 After reviewing DOCS' practices, it

         20  is clear that the Department is doing whatever it

         21  can to discourage patients from seeking therapy,

         22  disqualifying patients who could meet a reasonable

         23  medical standard for treatment, and failing to

         24  assist few, the few patients who start therapy and

         25  to complete the regiment successfully.
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          2                 There's been no precise estimate of

          3  the rate of Hepatitis C infections in New York State

          4  Prisons.  The only data available is the DOH

          5  seroprevalence study performed in 2000 of

          6  approximately 4,000 newly admitted and 13 percent of

          7  the male population and 23 percent of the female

          8  population were infected with Hepatitis C.  Nearly a

          9  quarter of all the women in our prisons have

         10  Hepatitis C.

         11                 Projecting those rates to the entire

         12  population, prison population, would indicate that

         13  more than 9,000 inmates are infected.  DOCS has

         14  developed a treatment protocol that I give a lot of

         15  details on, but it's clearly inadequate because it

         16  is restricting access for non- medical reasons.

         17                 Some of the highlights of that are

         18  that inmates must have at least 15 months remaining

         19  on their sentence in order to be evaluated for

         20  therapy.  That means that before any other criterion

         21  is applied, nearly half of the prison population are

         22  automatically excluded.  Extraordinary delays are

         23  experienced by patients in order to have access for

         24  treatment.  The process of evaluation for therapy

         25  can take months and if not, and in some cases, a
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          2  year or more to just be evaluated.

          3                 Patients who have any drug history

          4  are required to enroll in a drug treatment program

          5  before therapy is offered. This restriction is not

          6  medically justified and is being applied to people

          7  who have not used drugs for more than 25 years.

          8                 In addition to the problems with

          9  Hepatitis C guidelines, DOCS impedes inmates' access

         10  to therapy due to several other factors, including

         11  the failure to offer Hepatitis C treatment, testing

         12  to all inmates at risk for HCV, the failure to

         13  consistently monitor the liver enzyme values of

         14  Hepatitis C positive inmates and to respond to

         15  elevated levels, and inadequate or untimely access

         16  to gastroenterologist services due to lack of the

         17  availability of these providers for the prison

         18  population.

         19                 In summary, the ACV evaluation

         20  process is full of barriers and pitfalls and is used

         21  as a mechanism to screen out all but the most

         22  assertive patient who seeks, who keeps pushing his

         23  provider to complete the process.

         24                 But, there's more.  For the few

         25  inmates who manage to get through the evaluative
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          2  process and receive appropriate treatment, their

          3  prospects for successful treatment is still very

          4  low.  The literature suggests that with pegylated

          5  interferon and ribavirin 45 to 65 percent of

          6  patients in genotype one can have a sustained

          7  virological response and 80 to 85 percent have such

          8  response if they have genotype two and three.

          9                 The DOCS experience is very

         10  different.  Of the many thousands of Hepatitis C-

         11  infected inmates, DOCS, in the last two years,

         12  attempted to treat -- these numbers are a little

         13  confusing, but follow me, 510 patients, of which 160

         14  were still on therapy at the time of their report in

         15  December of 2003.

         16                 However, DOCS also reported that only

         17  48 inmates of this group of 510 had completed full

         18  treatment during the two year period.  This is a

         19  shockingly low figure.  It means that only 14

         20  percent of the 350 inmates who had ended their

         21  therapy, had finished the one year or six month

         22  course of treatment. These 48 patients reported only

         23  as completed therapy.  There was no information

         24  concerning how many of these patients had a

         25  sustained virological response to the treatment.  If

                                                            85

          1  COMMITTEE ON MENTAL HEALTH

          2  accurate, these figures demonstrate there is an

          3  entirely inadequate support system in DOCS for these

          4  patients.

          5                 An overview of DOCS' care of

          6  Hepatitis C- infected inmates leaves the inescapable

          7  conclusion that DOCS generally discourages those

          8  seeking treatment and has effectively denied

          9  treatment to thousands of inmates in its custody who

         10  suffer from this disease.

         11                 Moreover, DOCS is not fairly

         12  evaluating these patients to determine who is in

         13  most need of care.  Specifically, it refuses to

         14  biopsy patients who are chronically infected and

         15  exhibit elevated liver enzymes, refutes any notion

         16  that the Department is effectively prioritizing

         17  care.  Not every person who is chronically infected

         18  should be treated.  But, without the crucial

         19  information of the patient's liver status, it is

         20  unreasonable to assume that true medical judgment is

         21  determining the treatment decision.

         22                 Finally, taking the treatment

         23  decision away from the facility providers and

         24  ignoring the recommendations of specialists who have

         25  evaluated these patients, and placing the decision
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          2  in the hands of central office administrators who do

          3  not have the patients' medical records or any

          4  contact with the patient, demonstrates both the

          5  callousness to the patients' needs and the

          6  ascendancy of fiscal and administrative needs over

          7  good medical judgment.  Appropriate medical care is

          8  only possible if medical decisions are made by the

          9  providers treating the patient. But, this is not

         10  done in the prisons for Hepatitis C care.

         11                 It is crucial that officials outside

         12  of DOCS challenge the status of Hepatitis C care in

         13  the prisons.  Many Hepatitis C- infected inmates are

         14  unnecessarily suffering and dying from this disease,

         15  and with more than 28,000 inmates returning to the

         16  community each year, their family members and loved

         17  ones are unnecessarily being exposed to a serious

         18  illness that should have been appropriately

         19  diagnosed and treated before the inmate's discharge.

         20    The State can do better and with sufficient public

         21  exposure and pressure from advocates, the public

         22  health crisis can be avoided.  Thank you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  The first

         24  question that I have for the panel in very important

         25  that the public be educated about this issue.  How
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          2  do you acquire this particular disease?  How is

          3  communicated?

          4                 MS. GEBHARDT:  The disease can be

          5  acquired in a couple of ways.  Prior to the very --

          6  okay, I'm sorry.  The disease can be required (sic)

          7  in a number of ways, Hepatitis C was actually called

          8  non- Hepatitis and non- Hepatitis A and non

          9  Hepatitis B up until the late 1980's.  We knew that

         10  there was Hepatitis C, but we didn't know what to

         11  call it.  A lot of what we saw then, or what we knew

         12  about, was due to a contaminated blood supply,

         13  because we had no way to really screen for Hepatitis

         14  C in the blood.  So, you have a group of people who

         15  received blood for, you know, transfusions for

         16  surgery, illness, you know, hemophilia, whatever,

         17  who are infected unknowingly.

         18                 The largest part of the transmission

         19  today is from intravenous drug use and probably 80

         20  percent of the new cases are from intravenous drug

         21  use.  However, I will tell you, as the CEO of a

         22  health center that's treating almost 700 people with

         23  Hepatitis C, we are treating people with Hepatitis C

         24  who have no known risk factor, which is really kind

         25  of scary --
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Okay, stop for a

          3  minute, because I want this to be very clear --

          4                 MS. GEBHARDT:  Uh- huh.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  -- The way to

          6  acquire the disease is how?

          7                 MS. GEBHARDT:  Through --

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Tell me, one.

          9                 MS. GEBHARDT:  -- Intravenous drug

         10  use, through injection into the system.  It can also

         11  be transmitted through contaminated blood, which is

         12  no longer a problem in this country, hopefully, and

         13  also through sexual transmission, and the sexual

         14  transmission is lower than HIV and it's generally

         15  from individuals that are having multiple sex

         16  partners with unprotected sex.  Those are the main

         17  modes of transmission.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  A person who is

         19  Hepatitis C positive can transmit that illness to

         20  somebody who have a monogamous relation with that

         21  person, and that person not be aware that this

         22  individual is infected, can transmit that disease to

         23  that person?

         24                 MS. GEBHARDT:  They can.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  By the sexual
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          2  relationship?

          3                 MS. GEBHARDT:  Right, but the

          4  incidents of sexual transmission is much lower in

          5  Hepatitis C than it is in HIV.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  I hear you.  I

          7  just need to make clear to everyone who's listening

          8   --

          9                 MS. GEBHARDT:  Right.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  -- How you

         11  communicate this disease.

         12                 MS. GEBHARDT:  But, it can be

         13  transmitted sexually.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  It can be.

         15                 MS. GEBHARDT:  Absolutely.  Also,

         16  there's a lot of evidence about tattoos.  You know,

         17  the City has regulated tattoo parlors, but we don't

         18  have the tattoo police in every parlor to see that

         19  clean needles and clean ink pots and you know air

         20  tubing is being changed.  Also, now with nasal

         21  cocaine, with the snorting and snifting (sic) of

         22  intranasal cocaine, where they are taking the straw,

         23  the cocaine straw or the heroine straw and they are

         24  passing it around from person to person, is also a

         25  mode of transmission that we're seeing a lot of
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          2  prevalence in lately.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Then, sharing

          4  needles, sharing --

          5                 MS. GEBHARDT:  Straws.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  -- Straws, --

          7                 MS. GEBHARDT:  Right.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  -- Having

          9  multiple sexual partners, --

         10                 MS. GEBHARDT:  Partners.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  -- Having one

         12  partner who is infected --

         13                 MS. GEBHARDT:  Right.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  -- And you not

         15  knowing that, can communicate the disease to you

         16  through sexual intercourse?

         17                 MS. GEBHARDT:  Correct.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Okay.  Once we

         19  identify these elements, that the population has

         20  been educated about this at all?

         21                 MS. GEBHARDT:  No, that's the real

         22  interesting thing, is that you don't have the

         23  hysteria about this epidemic that you had with HIV.

         24  We also don't have the advocacy.  We don't have the

         25  folks, you know, in the street, demonstrating like
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          2  we did in the  '60's and  '70's,  '70's and  '80's

          3  with HIV.  It has been our experience, and I'm sure

          4  the people on the panel will back me up, that

          5  because of the kinds of individuals that we take

          6  care, many people out there feel we've done enough

          7  for this population, you know, we've put them in

          8  drug treatment, we've incarcerated them, we've done

          9  this, that and the other thing, and they still can't

         10  get their acts, you know, their collective acts

         11  together.  But, the single biggest reason why we

         12  cannot get the word out there is because we don't

         13  have public policy.  We don't have state and local

         14  health departments really out there talking about

         15  Hepatitis C and talking about prevention.

         16                 You know, the average drug substance

         17  abuser that we take care of is starting to use some

         18  form of drugs between the ages of nine and 11 years

         19  old.  So, we need to get that message out there at a

         20  very young age, about prevention and also harm

         21  reduction.  You know, if you are practicing a

         22  certain lifestyle, what are some of the things that

         23  you need to do to protect yourself and protect the

         24  public?

         25                 The point that the gentleman to the
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          2  right made about the prisoners returning, and most

          3  of those prisoners, by the way, come back to the

          4  Bronx, Brooklyn and Manhattan, a very large

          5  percentage of them are coming back infected.  The

          6  people that we're diagnosing have been infected for

          7  at least 15 to 20, some of them 30 years.  These are

          8  not new infections.  So, by the time we're even

          9  diagnosing the Hepatitis C, for many of our

         10  population, unfortunately, we are diagnosing it at a

         11  very advanced stage because many traditional health

         12  care centers, while they'll test you for Hepatitis A

         13  and B, they are not testing you for Hepatitis C.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  But, that doesn't

         15  make sense.

         16                 MS. GEBHARDT:  Of course it doesn't

         17  make sense. We do a lot --

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  I mean, what is

         19  the difference between testing one or the other?

         20                 MS. GEBHARDT:  There is no

         21  difference.  The test is cheap.  But, you know what

         22  I found, Councilwoman Lopez --

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Can you describe

         24   -- just one minute, I'm sorry that I am --

         25                 MS. GEBHARDT:  Yea, no.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  I'm trying to go

          3  step by step here, but --

          4                 MS. GEBHARDT:  Right.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  -- What is the

          6  procedure to test somebody?

          7                 MS. GEBHARDT:  The procedure to test

          8  somebody is that you put a needle in their arm, you

          9  draw out a couple of cc's of blood and you send it

         10  to the lab.  And, if you already have that needle in

         11  their arm to test them for A and B, why not test

         12  them for C?

         13                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Okay, the

         14  question now is, why not?

         15                 MS. GEBHARDT:  Why not?  Because of a

         16  lack of awareness, number one, and number two,

         17  Councilman, Councilwoman, if you do test them, and

         18  you find out that they're positive, then you have a

         19  moral and an ethical obligation to treat them, okay?

         20  And we have a real absence of funding, because this

         21  is an expensive disease.  It can be an expensive

         22  disease to treat without health insurance.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  But this disease

         24  kill people?

         25                 MS. GEBHARDT:  Absolutely.  Our last
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          2  ten patient deaths have been from Hepatitis C.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  How long it take

          4  for somebody to be killed once the illness is in

          5  place?

          6                 MS. GEBHARDT:  It can take, it

          7  generally takes, on an average, of 20 to 25 years,

          8  before they're are at end stage liver disease.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  In the process

         10  of, doctor, you're not a doctor?

         11                 MS. GEBHARDT:  No, I'm a nurse.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Oh, I thought,

         13  okay.  I thought that you were a doctor -- a lawyer.

         14    In the process of somebody being infected --

         15                 MS. GEBHARDT:  Uh- huh.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  -- How much is

         17  the expense of the illnesses that are going to

         18  flourish on this individual without being --

         19                 MS. GEBHARDT:  Astronomical,

         20  astronomical.  A liver transplant, if it's a cadaver

         21  transplant, is $250,000 plus, plus you have to stay

         22  on $40,000 of anti- rejection drugs for the rest of

         23  your life.  If you do a live donor transplant,

         24  that's half a million dollars, plus you also have to

         25  stay on the anti rejection drugs.  Also, the cost in
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          2  lost wages, lost work and disability for people with

          3  advanced cirrhosis is very expensive. I mean,

          4  cirrhosis is a long, painful, costly death.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Yes.

          6                 MR. BECK:  Can I just?  A few points.

          7    I think you really can't emphasize enough this one

          8  notion, that generally, the evolution of the disease

          9  is very slow, 20 to 40 years.  A person could be

         10  infected a long time ago and show no symptoms

         11  whatsoever.  So, this notion of that I can, as some

         12  people say, I can tell the sick people out there and

         13  protect myself, that does not work with Hepatitis C.

         14    They show no symptoms until it's very late in the

         15  illness.  That's one.

         16                 The second piece is that there is a

         17  window of opportunity to treat this disease.  You

         18  generally don't treat it early in the process

         19  because of the significant side effects, unless

         20  you're in genotype two and three, you're looking for

         21  actual people who develop liver disease.  But, if

         22  you develop serious decompensated cirrhosis, it is

         23  generally too late to treat them.

         24                 So, the problem that we have is,

         25  particularly with this, with the population in the
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          2  prison is, we're seeing somebody, they're 35 to 40

          3  years old, they have been infected a long time,

          4  they're not doing the proper diagnostic work- up and

          5  you don't know if they're coming to the end of that

          6  window when you can treat them.

          7                 If you go beyond that window, now

          8  you're talking about death or a very extensive liver

          9  transplant process.  If you did it a little earlier,

         10  you might be able to treat them and it might be

         11  $20,000, $25,000, but there's a substantial chance

         12  you could cure them and not have to face that

         13  expense.  So, we're being very foolish in our way of

         14  looking at it.

         15                 However, you ask why aren't people

         16  tested? Because it is expensive to treat people.

         17  Right now, with, everyone's budget is so much

         18  overburdened, they look at, they have for HIV that

         19  they don't want to take on this other illness that

         20  could be very expensive.  For example, in the New

         21  York State Prisons, almost a half of their

         22  medication budget is on HIV, almost half.  However,

         23  there's almost two to three times as many infected

         24  people with Hepatitis C.  Yet, they're spending a

         25  small percentage on that.  So, they don't want to-
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          2  the answer is, I don't want to test because I don't

          3  want to know.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Then, the

          5  question is that these people will live for 30 to 40

          6  years sick, sometime they will know early, sometime

          7  they will not, and that will be the expansion of

          8  life for these individuals, unless they become ill

          9  and then they have to realize that something have to

         10  be done about a liver transplant and then it will

         11  cost us more?  Then, no matter what, how we do this,

         12  at the end of the day, the question is that we're

         13  putting at risk everybody else under the name of not

         14  spending the money to treat them.

         15                 MS. BECK:  Yes.

         16                 MS. GEBHARDT:  You absolutely are.

         17  This is a communicable disease.  In what other

         18  communicable disease in this state do we deny people

         19  treatment?  If you walked into my clinic and had any

         20  other communicable disease but Hepatitis C, I would

         21  be able to get you some type of treatment covered by

         22  some law, some statute, some clinic, you know, some

         23  fund somewhere, okay? Not with Hepatitis C.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  But, that is

         25  because -- what is the percentage of the population
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          2  who have this disease who have a criminal record

          3  attached to them?

          4                 MR. BECK:  Well, it varies from

          5  actually regions of the country.  In some states,

          6  they find 30 or more percent of the prison

          7  population is Hepatitis C positive.  In New York, as

          8  I described, is about 14, 15 percent male, 23

          9  percent female, and that's the only newly admitted

         10  inmates.  We think that actually-

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  No, but you

         12  answered my question incorrectly.  I'm not asking

         13  you about the ones who get into the prison, I'm

         14  asking for the total amount of people who have this

         15  disease, how many of that total --

         16                 MR. BECK:  Okay.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  -- Have a history

         18  of being part of the prison system?

         19                 MR. BECK:  Well, there was this study

         20  done in 1996 that looked at the entire population

         21  estimate who have Hepatitis C, and they found in

         22  that year, almost a third of that population, which

         23  is everyone with Hepatitis C, went through a prison

         24  or jail.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  A third?
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          2                 MR. BECK:  A third.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Then, that means

          4  that two third of the population do not have prison

          5  history or are connected to that.  Now, that that

          6  means that they also have no history of substance

          7  abuse with needle sharing and stuff like that?  In

          8  other words, what I'm trying to get to the bottom

          9  of, my questions is, I want to know if bigotry is

         10  bigger than health policy?  That's what I'm trying

         11  to ask you here.

         12                 MR. BECK:  Well, I mean there is an

         13  element that now the current population that we're

         14  really talking about of Hepatitis C are people who

         15  are involved in drug abuse.  I mean, it was, at one

         16  point, had it with my own father who, you know, who

         17  had a, had an operation, heart, heart surgery, and

         18  he got Hepatitis C from transfusions.

         19                 Okay, the issue is that at one point,

         20  there was clearly a risk of people that got it

         21  through transfusions for operations and the like.

         22  But, that risk has really gone down, so that now you

         23  are really looking at the, essentially drug abuse is

         24  the primary source of this, or people who are living

         25  with --
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  In terms of

          3  transmission --

          4                 MR. BECK:  -- Or have a relationship.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  -- You're talking

          6  about?

          7                 MR. BECK:  Yes, and that's the

          8  population --

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  But, no internal

         10  people been infected, right?

         11                 MR. BECK:  Well, there is, that's why

         12  they're talking about this real bold, because people

         13  have been infected a long time ago and do not know

         14  it.  You will have no sense, other than if somebody

         15  does a liver enzyme test and see that it's elevated,

         16  which could happen much further on, that you will

         17  not know that you're infected.  You don't have

         18  symptoms from this disease until you're very far

         19  along.  So, it's kind of this hidden epidemic.  But,

         20  the people that we're seeing dying, a lot of them

         21  are the people from, associated with drug abuse

         22  population, and they're not, they don't have a

         23  constituency to be arguing for them.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Yes.

         25                 MR. RONDINARO:  I just think that we
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          2  need to remember that the period of time that you

          3  may be infected with Hepatitis C and not know it is

          4  long, and we need to think back to the 1980's and

          5  that internasal cocaine use.  So, no, you're not

          6  talking about a group of people who are in prison.

          7  You're talking about most of the folks from that

          8  generation, were in that lifestyle.

          9                 MS. GEBHARDT:  Yea, and the people

         10  who were "recreational drug users," you know, who

         11  may be, you know, dibbed and dabbed, never, you

         12  know, were able to not become substance abusers and

         13  get their life back on the road.  I mean, it only

         14  took, you know, one hit of heroine or one snort of

         15  cocaine, you know, to infect you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Then it's not

         17  customary or it's not a policy in the City of New

         18  York or the State of New York to order the test of

         19  Hepatitis C for any client that is admitted in any

         20  substance abuse program or any medical treatment

         21  program for people with substance abuse?  That is

         22  not mandatory currently?

         23                 MR. RONDINARO:  We are being

         24  encouraged by the OASAS regulation to create an

         25  appropriate program.  The issue is, many people in
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          2  substance abuse treatment are suffering from a lag

          3  in Medicaid eligibility, which means --

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  And we got it.

          5                 MR. RONDINARO:  -- It may take a year

          6  to get it, or they never become Medicaid eligible.

          7  Once you test, you must treat.  It is so expensive

          8  to treat, that the providers are no longer able to

          9  absorb the cost of the people who we receive no

         10  compensation from, Medicaid.

         11                 MS. GEBHARDT:  But the state --

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  I see, then if

         13  the City of New York, through the share of the

         14  community of mental health decide to put a piece of

         15  legislation mandating that the City of New York,

         16  through the allocations of monies that they put in

         17  group, in programs, that this had to be tested, what

         18  would be the result of that?

         19                 MR. RONDINARO:  There certainly are

         20  provisions for people who have HIV, who fall into

         21  that same not eligible for Medicaid category, which

         22  allow us to be funded to treat their HIV.  Hepatitis

         23  C seems to be a different story.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Okay.

         25                 MS. GEBHARDT:  But, to answer your
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          2  question, okay? If we mandated some type of testing

          3  within the City boroughs, you would have to really

          4  calculate then, and I would be all for that, but

          5  once we do the testing, we have to be prepared with

          6  an entire program.  We have to be prepared and

          7  geared up to treat what we find.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  I hear you, but

          9  the problem with what you're proposing is precisely

         10  why we don't have nothing treating these people, and

         11  I'm going to tell you why.  Until HIV was not known

         12  to affect so many people and all of those people

         13  came forward, nothing was done about it.  Until we

         14  continue to have a secret about how many people are

         15  infected, and until we continue to have a problem in

         16  which we cannot identify these people for 20 to 40

         17  years, you're going to continue having the same

         18  problem.  Because, unless you have the need, the

         19  solution is going to be created.  Although the need

         20  exists, the need is not known, because it's in the

         21  closet.

         22                 MR. RONDINARO:  There is no act up

         23  like organization that exists for Hepatitis C.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  And you cannot

         25  have it --
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          2                 MS. GEBHARDT:  Right.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  -- Because nobody

          4  knows that they have it.  By the time that they

          5  discover that they have it, then it's too late,

          6  because by then, the person may be fatally, you

          7  know, fatally sick?

          8                 MS. GEBHARDT:  Right.  I would also

          9  encourage that with any testing program, you would

         10  implement the educational piece that we do when we

         11  test for HIV.  It's not just a matter of getting a

         12  blood test, but it's also a matter of getting

         13  counseling.  So, if the Council were to consider

         14  that type of recommendation, I would strongly

         15  suggest that you put that same piece in place about

         16  sitting down with the person you're testing and

         17  looking at their risk factors, and giving them --

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Hepatitis exists.

         19                 MS. GEBHARDT:  Right, and given them

         20  appropriately, appropriate counseling, so that if

         21  they have risk factors and they're negative, that

         22  they have the information that they need, so that

         23  they don't become positive.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Okay, Dr.

         25  Stewart.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  I just want

          3  to relate back to some years ago, when we had the

          4  problem with eating uncooked clams and getting

          5  Hepatitis.  I want you to speak on that issue,

          6  because you're talking in general of how you get it

          7  and there are different forms of Hepatitis.  But,

          8  I'm saying, could you relate that, which is the

          9  information that we learned years ago, by eating

         10  uncooked clams and shell food, that, that you can

         11  get Hepatitis and which one of the Hepatitis you can

         12  get from that?

         13                 MS. GEBHARDT:  It's on? Okay.  That's

         14  with Hepatitis B, right.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  But, I

         16  wanted you to relate, because a lot of folks think

         17  that because they don't eat, that they can't get

         18  Hepatitis C or Hepatitis A.  You know, they clamp

         19  everything as one, they link it as one.  So, I

         20  wanted you to at least differentiate the three, what

         21  the difference, how you get each of them.

         22                 MS. GEBHARDT:  Again, you know, I'm

         23  not a physician, so, you know, I will tell you what

         24  I know.  Hepatitis A, which is also an increasing

         25  epidemic for which we can immunize people, can be
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          2  food borne.  Hepatitis B is also, can be food borne,

          3  and you also can get Hepatitis B from a needle

          4  stick.  I, as a young nurse, received, got Hepatitis

          5  B from an infected patient with a needle stick.  We

          6  have immunizations for Hepatitis A and B.  We don't

          7  have immunizations for Hepatitis C.

          8                 Generally, when you have, when you

          9  have an outbreak of Hepatitis due to food borne in a

         10  community, what happens?   It's all over the front

         11  page of the newspaper, the restaurant is closed

         12  down, the Health Department goes in.  You know,

         13  there's a big to do and you have a big awareness and

         14  a lot of people are tested, okay?  We have many more

         15  people with Hepatitis C than we do with Hepatitis A

         16  and B, and yet, we don't have, you know, that kind

         17  of publicity.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  That's the

         19  point I wanted to bring out there, because that's

         20  one of the diseases that, is considered if you don't

         21  know about it, don't worry about it.

         22                 MS. GEBHARDT:  Right.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  But,

         24  because, that's because of the timespan it takes

         25  before it shows itself.  You could pick it up ten
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          2  years ago, just like AIDS, you pick it up ten years

          3  ago, but it doesn't really manifest itself until 15,

          4  20 years hence.  So, you're never really concerned

          5  about it until one day you start feeling weak, you

          6  want to know why you're so weak, you want to know

          7  why, that you, you know, these signs and symptoms

          8  are coming up on you, and you then end up in the

          9  doctor's office and he says, well, let's just, and

         10  he may test you for everything else, but never test

         11  you for Hepatitis C.  So, it might be a problem.

         12                 The other problem I also wanted to

         13  look at is that this is one of the diseases that

         14  destroy your liver.  But, you might be someone who

         15  might be an occasional drinker.  So, that augments

         16  the fact that you become someone with cirrhosis of

         17  the liver.  The fact is you might have been able to

         18  handle the occasional drink, but now, because you

         19  have Hepatitis C --

         20                 MS. GEBHARDT:  Right.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  -- You

         22  cannot handle that occasional drink.  I just want

         23  you to.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Well, I thank you

         25  very much. This had been very educational and --
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          2                 MS. GEBHARDT:  Thank you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  -- I'm going to

          4  look into possible legislation.  I don't know if I

          5  can accomplish that, but I'm going to explore

          6  different possibilities.  I wanted to begin by

          7  calling the attention to the issue and sending this

          8  Resolution to the State, that they cannot continue

          9  with this practice.  But, at the City level, we have

         10  a Health Department, in which the Commissioner of

         11  the Health Department, who is a very conscientious

         12  man, had issued a guide of ten points about health,

         13  and I wonder why a policy in regard to this has not

         14  been emphasized by him.  Therefore, I'm going to be

         15  looking into this and I may come with some kind of

         16  legislation for the City.

         17                 MS. GEBHARDT:  I can tell you that

         18  our Health Commissioner in the City is very

         19  interested in Hepatitis C and up until very

         20  recently, we had Dr. Karin Shlanger (phonetic) at

         21  the New York City Department of Health, who was the

         22  coordinator for Hepatitis C, and I believe now she's

         23  resigned and gone elsewhere. But, it is an interest

         24  of his.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Then I suspect
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          2  that, because I know that, I mean Dr. Frieden is a,

          3  I'm an admirer of him and I have great respect for

          4  him.

          5                 MS. GEBHARDT:  Me too.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Then, I suspect

          7  that this is something that he care for, but I am

          8  puzzled by a lack of even a campaign to call the

          9  attention to it, for people to be aware of possible

         10  infection and that you should be tested.  I mean,

         11  anyone should be tested in regard of this, because

         12  you never know if you have been exposed to it or

         13  not.

         14                 MS. GEBHARDT:  That's correct.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Okay, thank you

         16  very much.

         17                 MS. GEBHARDT:  Thank you very much.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  I appreciate you

         19  coming here today.

         20                 MS. EMERMAN:  Actually I have a --

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Oh, I'm sorry,

         22  I'm sorry.

         23                 MS. EMERMAN:  -- I have a question.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Anne Emerman want

         25  to ask a question.
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          2                 MS. EMERMAN:  Several of you have

          3  alluded to the expensive treatment, what is that

          4  treatment and what is the cost?

          5                 MS. GEBHARDT:  The treatment for the

          6  medication, depending upon how long you have to be

          7  treated, either 24 or 48 weeks, depending upon the

          8  drugs that we use, can be $1,200 to $1,500 a month.

          9  So, you would multiply that times the 24 to 48 weeks

         10  of treatment.  Then, you have all the collateral

         11  costs, you know, such as seeing your hepatologist,

         12  seeing your primary care physician, the other blood

         13  tests that are required.  It costs us, on an

         14  average, between $38,000 and $45,000 to treat

         15  someone without insurance who has Hepatitis C.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Wow.

         17                 MS. GEBHARDT:  Yes, a lot of money.

         18                 MS. EMERMAN:  For the course of the

         19  treatment?

         20                 MS. GEBHARDT:  For the course of the

         21  treatment and to follow them.  You know, once you go

         22  through treatment, we continue to follow you.  We

         23  follow you even if you don't go on the drugs.  You

         24  know, we have almost 700 people in treatment,

         25  probably 50 percent of them are on medication and 50
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          2  percent of them are not.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Wow.

          4                 MR. RONDINARO:  Let me just point out

          5  that at Samaritan, where we are treating people at

          6  these exorbitant, horribly expensive prices, it is

          7  so heartwarming to see someone at 48 weeks test for

          8  Hepatitis C and have an undetectable viral load.

          9                 MS. GEBHARDT:  Viral load. Yes, we

         10  have tremendous success stories.

         11                 MR. RONDINARO:   It is possible to be

         12  very successful. --

         13                 MS. GEBHARDT:  It is.

         14                 MR. RONDINARO:  It's an expense worth

         15  making.

         16                 MS. GEBHARDT:  Right.

         17                 MR. BECK:  And, to emphasize, if it's

         18  successful after that one year and then six months

         19  later, there's this thing called sustained

         20  virological response, if you're still negative six

         21  months later, we hate to use it, but it's actually,

         22  the cure word is out there.  It is over.  It is not

         23  HIV that you treat forever.  It is that you treat

         24  and if it does work, it doesn't work for everyone,

         25  but if it does work, it means that it is over and
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          2  that person is free from that virus.  That's a

          3  wonderful thing to do with a chronic illness and so

          4  that's --

          5                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  That means that

          6  that person will not be able to transmit the virus

          7  either?

          8                 MS. GEBHARDT:  Right.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  That means that?

         10                 MR. BECK:  They are --

         11                 MS. GEBHARDT:  But, they can become

         12  re- infected.

         13                 MR. BECK:  But the --

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Okay, re-

         15  infection can happen. I understand that.  But, once

         16  it's out  --

         17                 MS. GEBHARDT:  It's not --

         18                 MS. RONDINARO:  You are no longer --

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  --  The person

         20  will not communicate it to anybody else ever again?

         21                 MR. BECK:  That's right, it is gone,

         22  it is gone, and that's the best part.  That's why

         23  people are so interested in the notion of trying to

         24  treat this, is because you can actually, essentially

         25  cure someone of a chronic illness.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Okay.  Thank you.

          3                 MS. GEBHARDT:  Thank you.

          4                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE:  We appreciate

          5  the patience of our last panel, which is our most

          6  important panel, for Resolution 141, testimony by

          7  Edith Prentiss, Parvati Devi, Sharon Shapiro and

          8  Sharon Hightower.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Sergeant, make

         10  sure that you put this microphone for her, only, and

         11  the other people share the other microphone, because

         12  she will not be able to move then, and put it close

         13  to her for her to be able to use it, you know, and

         14  then the other people can use the other microphone.

         15                 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: Councilwoman,

         16  what I'm going to do is I'm going to introduce the

         17  testimony and I'll have my colleague, Aneesa

         18  Lancaster (phonetic) to read it for me. Then I'll

         19  end with closing remarks.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Okay.

         21                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE:  Yes, please

         22  now can you please raise your right hand.  Yes.  And

         23  will you please swear or affirm that the testimony

         24  you will provide in this Hearing will be truthful in

         25  all concerns?

                                                            114

          1  COMMITTEE ON MENTAL HEALTH

          2                 MS. SHAPIRO:  Yes.

          3                 MS. DEVI:  Yes.

          4                 MS. HIGHTOWER:  Yes.

          5                 MS. PRENTISS:  Yes.

          6                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE:  And we need to

          7  limit our testimony for three minutes.  Thank you

          8  very much.  You may begin.

          9                 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: Okay, I will

         10  let my colleague, Aneesa Lancaster, read for me.

         11                 MS. SHAPIRO:  My name is Sharon

         12  Shapiro.  I am the Director of Advocacy at the

         13  Center for Independence of the Disabled in New York.

         14  CIDNY advocates for the rights of people with

         15  disabilities and promotes the full inclusion of

         16  people with disability into all aspects of community

         17  life.

         18                 We are here to remind the Council of

         19  the importance of expanding SCRIE program to include

         20  low- income people with disabilities.  Like seniors,

         21  many people with disabilities, especially those who

         22  rely on supplemental security income, SSI, as their

         23  sole source of income, have very low fixed incomes

         24  and are increasingly in danger of losing their homes

         25  as rents continue to rise.
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          2                 However, based, however, because they

          3  are not 62 or older, people with disabilities, who

          4  would ordinarily qualify for SCRIE are barred from

          5  making use of a cost- effective program that can

          6  prevent homelessness.

          7                 Barriers to affordable and accessible

          8  housing for people with disabilities in New York

          9  City.  New Yorkers with disabilities face

         10  significant obstacles in obtaining and maintaining

         11  affordable, accessible, housing.  Approximately 70

         12  percent of CIDNY consumers with on- going cases,

         13  including a growing number of individuals seeking to

         14  leave nursing homes, have asked CIDNY for help in

         15  locating affordable, accessible housing, or for

         16  assistance in dealing with threats of eviction and

         17  inability to manage rent increases, inadequate

         18  building maintenance and utilities, and

         19  accessibility needs.

         20                 Most CIDNY consumers live in New York

         21  City public housing, in apartments subsidized

         22  through the Section Eight program or in rent-

         23  controlled, rent stabilized- apartments.  CIDNY

         24  consumers seeking permanent houses tend to live in

         25  homeless shelters, SRO's or nursing homes.  Others
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          2  remain at home with aging parents or other families

          3  members, are living crowded shared apartments that

          4  do not meet their accessibility needs.

          5                 In addition to consumers with on-

          6  going cases, CIDNY receives an average of 200 calls

          7  per month from people seeking housing information or

          8  advocacy assistance.  Affordable housing is

          9  inaffordable (sic) for people whose sole source of

         10  income is SSI.  Hundreds of thousands of people with

         11  disabilities in New York City live on SSI or other

         12  low fixed incomes because they are unable to work

         13  due to the limitations posed by their disabilities.

         14                 In addition, many have substantial

         15  expenses due to their disabilities, such as the cost

         16  of medical service and equipment, prescription

         17  drugs, transportation and personal assistance

         18  services.  The current SSI benefit for a person

         19  living alone in New York is only $651.00 per month.

         20  The incomes of SSD recipients vary, but usually do

         21  not exceed $1,000 per month. These benefits amounts

         22  do not reflect the high cost of living in New York

         23  City.  As a result of the high rents and very

         24  limited income, many of our consumers are unable to

         25  afford independent housing.  They remain doubled- up
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          2  with relatives or must continue to live with their

          3  families of origin.

          4                 The affordable housing crisis in New

          5  York City has had a severe impact on renters with

          6  disabilities.  20- year contracts of project- based,

          7  Section Eight housing have started to expire.  The

          8  number of available rent- controlled, rent-

          9  stabilized apartments has decreased by 50 percent

         10  and the income to rent gap continues to widen.  The

         11  income gap is exacerbated for people with

         12  disabilities by supplemental security income

         13  benefits that are below the federal minimum wage.

         14                 As a national average, people with

         15  disabilities must spend 98 percent of their income

         16  to afford a modest, one bedroom priced at HUD fair

         17  market rents.  As rents continue to rise with

         18  disabilities, as rent continue to rise, people with

         19  disabilities, whose income remains fixed, are at

         20  greater and greater risk of being priced out of

         21  their homes and being forced to live in homeless

         22  shelters and nursing homes.

         23                 Why are we being stonewalled?  Over

         24  the past four years, a campaign to expand the SCRIE

         25  program to include people with disabilities has
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          2  received widespread support from senior

          3  organizations, housing advocacy groups and tenant

          4  association. More significantly, it has received

          5  support from both the New York State Assembly and

          6  Senate.

          7                 Within the past several years, the

          8  Assembly has passed a bill that would allow

          9  localities to expand the program to include people

         10  with disabilities who meet the existing program

         11  income requirements.  An identical bill has been

         12  repeatedly introduced in the Senate.  However,

         13  opposition to the expansion of the program to

         14  include people with disabilities, first by Mayor

         15  Guiliani and now by Mayor Bloomberg, has prevented

         16  the bill from moving though the Senate.  The reason

         17  for the opposition given each year was that the cost

         18  of expanding the program would be burdensome on a

         19  City already facing a severe budget deficit.

         20                 In June, 2000, the Independent Budget

         21  Office estimated that the cost to the New York City

         22  in foregone property tax revenues would be

         23  approximately $2.2 million in the first full year of

         24  implementation, rising to $12.2 million after five

         25  years, a cost far less than the $91,615.00 per
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          2  person, per year, for a nursing home placement,

          3  which is, unfortunately, where many people with

          4  disabilities end up when they lose their homes due

          5  to unmanageable rent increases.  We don't understand

          6  this Administration's resistance to providing rent

          7  increase relief to people with disabilities.

          8                 Why are those over the age of 62

          9  favored over those who are younger, who have

         10  documented disabilities and also live on low income?

         11    Why is the government willing to risk paying more

         12  dollars to house people in shelters or nursing

         13  homes, rather than to subsidize SCRIE for people

         14  with disabilities?  Expanding SCRIE to people with

         15  disabilities is not only the just thing to do, it

         16  makes good economic sense.  Thank you.

         17                 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  I just want to

         18  tell the Councilwoman that we will get our people

         19  out in force.  If you want to have press

         20  conferences, we will get them in force so we can get

         21  the SCRIE passed this year.  Thank you.

         22                 MS. DEVI:  Is this on?  No, I've got

         23  to.  Am I on or?  You hear me out there, okay.

         24  Okay.  Good afternoon.  My name is Parvati Devi.

         25  I'm a Member of Disabled in Action.  I want to thank
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          2  Margarita, the new co- sponsors and the Speaker for

          3  making this happen.  I hope the Speaker will hear

          4  the urgency for passing Resolution 141 immediately.

          5                 As most of you know, this is very

          6  personal.  It all began seven years ago, when I

          7  started having disabling panic attacks out of fear

          8  of being unable to pay rent increases with nothing

          9  but an SSI check.  Having nobody to help me, doctors

         10  heavily medicated me with antidepressants and anti-

         11  anxiety agents.  I had a severe allergic reaction to

         12  one medication that lasted several weeks.  I had no

         13  idea how panic would physically paralyze me over and

         14  over again.

         15                 Currently, I pay 75 percent of my

         16  income on rent, and there are thousands just like me

         17  with the same problem.  From what I've heard, normal

         18  people can become mentally ill from becoming

         19  homeless.  It boils down to a government that

         20  pretends we don't exist by providing less, while,

         21  ironically, ending up spending more.  But, I

         22  couldn't give up.  In the end, it was psychotherapy

         23  that helped calm me and motivated me.  I started to

         24  go to the local community board and then learned I

         25  had to press for a Resolution.  The result is the

                                                            121

          1  COMMITTEE ON MENTAL HEALTH

          2  Resolution before you.

          3                 Out of fear of homelessness or being

          4  placed in ghettoized institutions, housing,

          5  institutionalized housing and losing my privacy, I

          6  have been driven along to bring this about. Now, I

          7  hope, as you've done, you've passed this in

          8  Committee, which I greatly appreciate.

          9                 Despite the Ohmstead Decision, people

         10  with disabilities continue to be ghettoized when it

         11  is not needed or desired.  It is sad when people

         12  with disabilities are forced from their homes due to

         13  lack of affordable housing and into an unnecessary

         14  financial burden on the public, when it can be

         15  prevented, and for the sake of our health, please

         16  let us stay where we are.

         17                 In closing, why do disabled

         18  homeowners get tax abatements, while disabled

         19  renters are given no relief and are losing their

         20  homes?  It looks like discrimination to me and some

         21  claim the neglect is against the law.  I call upon

         22  the Mayor to address this and sign Resolution 141

         23  into law, as he promised he would.  I'm tired of

         24  hearing we can't afford it when he wants to build a

         25  West Side stadium.  It is shameful to me that he
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          2  doesn't address homelessness prevention and get

          3  people homes that need them, before trying to bring

          4  himself glory for getting us the 2012 Olympics.

          5  Does the Mayor think a largely inaccessible City

          6  would be inviting to disabled Olympic athletes?

          7  Wake up Mayor Bloomberg, the disabled community is

          8  holding you accountable. Thank you.

          9                 MS. HIGHTOWER:  Good afternoon panel.

         10    My name is Sharon  Hightower.  I'm a consumer with

         11  CIDNY.  I was successfully paying rent in a

         12  stabilized apartment until a job loss in 1995.  This

         13  was due to a number of different things, including

         14  my health problems.  I couldn't apply for Section

         15  Eight because it was closed shortly thereafter the

         16  time that I lost my employment.

         17                 Also, landlord negotiations are

         18  getting to be a yearly situation, which brings the

         19  rent up so quickly, it's so hard to keep up, you

         20  know trying to pay the increases.  The last

         21  increase, I believe, was going from two percent

         22  leases for the one year, and four percent for the

         23  two year, bringing it up to five percent for the one

         24  year and seven and a half for the two year leases.

         25  I was facing eviction from 2001 to 2002 due to the
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          2  decreased income that I had and no rent subsidy, no

          3  Section Eight, and I couldn't get it because I

          4  didn't fall into that category.  So, I wasn't able

          5  to keep up with the increases.

          6                 One week after the World Trade Center

          7  disaster, I was diagnosed with the possibility of a

          8  life- threatening disease. My main concern for the

          9  next few months was how was I going to keep my

         10  apartment, so I would have a place to heal and

         11  recover if it came down to surgery and treatments.

         12  Out of the negativity of the World Trade Center

         13  disaster, that allowed me the opportunity to get

         14  temporary Medicaid, which did help me to get my

         15  various treatments and, you know, different types of

         16  examinations and things.  But, it was quite a (sic)

         17  ordeal for me to go through.

         18                 The chain of events also resulted in

         19  my other health problems, including post- traumatic

         20  stress disorder for becoming more aggravated.  With

         21  that disorder, you have a lot of panic attacks,

         22  nightmares, insomnia, and I'm one of those people

         23  too that take Paxil and I have taken Zoloft in the

         24  past.

         25                 I had to go out and find ways to get
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          2  help.  I had to go to charities to get money in

          3  order to pay my past rent, so I wouldn't be evicted.

          4    I didn't want to be in a shelter, knowing that if

          5  I was so sick that I had to have, you know,

          6  operations, how was I going to heal?  I mean, the

          7  shelter system is hell here in New York.  That's the

          8  reason why there's so many homeless people on the

          9  street, because they don't feel safe there.

         10                 At this time, my income is somewhat

         11  stable.  But, it's still not enough to keep up with

         12  the so- called rent stabilized increases every year.

         13    My rent went up from $600.68 to $759.68 on the

         14  last increase.  My monthly income is $799.00. That's

         15  from my disability.  Rent, electric and phone total

         16  approximately $810.00 a month.  So, in other words,

         17  I have to put out more money for expenses than what

         18  is coming in.  I don't know how I'm going to sign a

         19  new lease in the next few months because I

         20  understand now there's going to be or has been

         21  passed a 15 percent rent increase.  I don't see how

         22  my disability benefits can keep up with that.

         23                 Also, addressing another issue

         24  concerning the disabled.  I know a lot of young

         25  people, in their 20's especially, some in their 40's
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          2  that have to live a communal living in apartments

          3  where they each, maybe a total of three males, for

          4  example, they each have their own room, but they

          5  have to pay $900.00 apiece and they're living in a,

          6  not an apartment building, but they're living in a

          7  private house.  So, in other words, they're paying

          8  $2,700.00 a month, collectively, to pay somebody's

          9  mortgage.

         10                 This is going on how I don't know,

         11  because I don't know a lot about these things, and

         12  I'm just learning about it. But, there's something

         13  wrong with three males, in separate bedrooms, having

         14  to pay $2,700.00 a month, and they still have to buy

         15  food, they still have to pay the electric bills, and

         16  they have to, I mean, they don't even have clean

         17  socks to wear, all right.  They don't even have

         18  proper clothing in the Wintertime because all their

         19  money from their SSD checks are going out. And, most

         20  of these young men are men who are mentally

         21  disabled. They even told me they signed papers, they

         22  didn't know what they were signing, but they were

         23  signing leases under the influence of heavy

         24  medication, and they're trapped in this system that

         25  continues to suck them dry for their SSI or SSD
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          2  benefits.

          3                 So, if there's a way to stop these

          4  type of processes, as well as making a possibility

          5  for the disabled to have the same advantage as a

          6  senior citizen on their rent, it would be much

          7  appreciative, because there's too much frivolousness

          8  going on in the City now.  I don't understand how

          9  they can build a stadium on the backs of the

         10  consumers here in New York.  I'm talking about our

         11  tax dollars have to go for a portion of this stadium

         12  and how it's going to bring more jobs and stuff,

         13  but, you know, mentally disadvantaged people, they

         14  can't work, and how are they going to keep paying

         15  and living somewhere with all this luxury around

         16  them and people in the street and everything.  I

         17  mean, it doesn't make any sense to me.  I thank you

         18  for your time.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Thank you to the

         20  four of you. For the purpose of clarification, I

         21  want you to know that the Resolution was passed.  It

         22  will be passed in the general meeting not tomorrow,

         23  but the following general meeting, because the bill

         24  had to be aged, according to the rules of the

         25  Council.
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          2                 MS. DEVI:  When would that be?

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Tomorrow is a

          4  State Council meeting.

          5                 MS. DEVI:  Yes.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Then in the one

          7  tomorrow cannot be.

          8                 MS. DEVI:  Right.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  It will be two

         10  weeks from that.

         11                 MS. DEVI:  Got it.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  On the 23rd --

         13                 MS. DEVI:  Usually a Wednesday, yea.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:   --  Of November,

         15  where the bill will be passed in the Committee, I'm

         16  sorry, in the full Council.  Then, what remain after

         17  this, is that the Assembly now have to pick it up.

         18  Is no reason why not.

         19                 MS. DEVI:  Right.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Because the only

         21  thing that was needed was to pass this bill here.

         22                 MS. DEVI:  Right.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  I believe this is

         24  a big bill.

         25                 MS. DEVI:  It's the state, I mean the
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          2  Senate that has to --

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  I don't know why

          4  the media don't care for it, but I care, and I make

          5  a promise  --

          6                 MS. DEVI:  We've done so much, they

          7  don't come out, they don't --

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Well, I make this

          9  promise to you, that this bill was going to be

         10  passed this year, and I am fulfilling my promise,

         11  and I remind you of that promise that I made to you.

         12                 MS. DEVI:  And good luck on running

         13  for higher office, I support you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Well, thank you

         15  for that. But, I also want to indicate that this was

         16  done with full support of the Speaker of the City

         17  Council, and I want to thank Council Member Helen

         18  Foster for putting this Resolution forward and for

         19  being concerned about the well- being of low income

         20  New Yorkers that happen to have a disability.  And,

         21  that they should not be treated differently than any

         22  other person who is low income because the reason

         23  that they are low income is because they are

         24  disabled.  This doesn't make sense.

         25                 As a matter of fact, this should have
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          2  been done even before it was done for seniors,

          3  because seniors, by definition, not necessarily

          4  should be in a fixed income.  But, disabled people

          5  are, and this is a very interesting, I think,

          6  brought it justice being done today here, finally,

          7  when we approved this piece of legislation, and from

          8  here now when the legislative body, at the level of

          9  Albany pick it up, it will be a matter of

         10  implementation, and then we have to monitor if that

         11  implementation is done or not.  Then, thank you for

         12  your contribution and at this moment, this Hearing

         13  is adjourned.

         14                 (Meeting adjourned at 3:45 p.m.)

         15                 (Following written testimony was read

         16  into the read)

         17  WRITTEN TESTIMONY OF:

         18  EDITH PRENTISS

         19  MANHATTAN BOROUGHWIDE INTERAGENCY COUNCIL ON AGING

         20                 I would like to thank the Committee

         21  and especially the Chair Margarita Lopez for the

         22  opportunity to speak in support of Resolution 141.

         23                 I am Edith Prentiss; the President of

         24  the Manhattan BoroughWide InterAgency Council on

         25  Aging (MBIAC), a member of Disabled In Action and
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          2  the Disabilities Network of New York City.

          3                 SCRIE assists low- income senior, by

          4  protecting them from rent increases and allowing

          5  them to allocate their income for other

          6  necessitates.  When New York City's program began in

          7  1974 it was administered by HPD (Division of

          8  Housing, Preservation & Development).  In 1992, the

          9  program for rent controlled/stabilized, Mitchell-

         10  Lama and hotel residents/tenants moved to DFTA

         11  (Department for the Aging).  HPD continues to

         12  administer programs for low- income disabled

         13  property owner, including SCHE (Senior Citizen

         14  Homeowner Exemption Program), DHE (Disabled

         15  Homeowners Exemption), Disabled Crime Victim and

         16  Good Samaritan Property Tax Exemption and Disabled

         17  Veterans.

         18                 Senator Liz Kruger said "If there's a

         19  good reason for excluding disabled people from SCRIE

         20  access, I can't think of one, The disabled... Live

         21  on fixed incomes from Social Security or pensions,

         22  and face the same challenge of meeting rent

         23  increases on a fixed income."  (Albany Update

         24  December 2003).

         25                 Despite the fact that many people

                                                            131

          1  COMMITTEE ON MENTAL HEALTH

          2  with disabilities (PWD) are confronted by more

          3  severe financial conditions (usually lower incomes

          4  and with additional expenses related to their

          5  disability), numerous attempts to expand SCRIE have

          6  been unsuccessful.  In 1980, the State Temporary

          7  Commission on Rental Housing recommended the

          8  inclusion of PWDs.  Recent supporters have included

          9  Manhattan Borough President C. Virginia Fields,

         10  disability, housing and senior groups.  The City

         11  Council has introduced numerous legislation, without

         12  success.

         13                 In 2001, Mayor Guiliani's Finance

         14  Commissioner Eristoff convinced the State

         15  legislature to kill a widely popular SCRIE

         16  expansion, citing concern about fraud and a

         17  projected $3.5 million DFTA administrative cost,

         18  which he stated was too costly for the City!  Why

         19  does the City have no problem with programs for

         20  disabled property owners but not renters?  Why does

         21  HPD administer the disabled property owners without

         22  concern about fraud?  Are tenants different than

         23  owners?

         24                 The IBO (Independent Budget Office)

         25  estimates the fiscal impact of proposed legislation.
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          2    If DRIE (Disabled Rent Increase Exemption) were

          3  enacted, they projected it would cost $2.2 million

          4  in the first year, based upon 7,500 of 36,000

          5  eligible disabled households applying, and in fifth

          6  year $12.2 million with an administrative cost of

          7  #1.3 million.  They project the annual cost of DRIE

          8  as $1,300 per participant.  Lets compare that to

          9  SCRIE, after thirty years it is report to have

         10  44,000 enrolled households (40.2 percent of eligible

         11  households), costing the City $63.8 million in

         12  property tax abatements.

         13                 Our incomes would make us eligible

         14  for SCRIE but not our ages.  If disabled New Yorkers

         15  were eligible, our lives would be so much easier and

         16  less stress ridden.  I'd like to describe some PWDs

         17  who would be eligible and how long they'll wait for

         18  SCRIE:

         19                 BE is 45.  She has CP.  Her income is

         20  $1,000 (SSDI).  She pays $410 maintenance in a

         21  Mitchell Lama.  17 years.

         22                 DN is 51.  She had a CVA (stroke) in

         23  1997.  Her income is $800 (SSDI).  She pays $150 for

         24  her Medicaid surplus and $663 for rent.  The

         25  tenants' are fighting a MCI.  11 years.
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          2                 LM is 52.  He has Lyme disease and

          3  worked until 1994.  His income is $1,700 (SSDI and

          4  pension).  He rent is $720. Ten years.

          5                 EY is 52.  She has rheumatoid

          6  arthritis and COPD, and worked until 1997.  Her

          7  income is $1,800 (SSDI and a philanthropic

          8  organization).  She pays $1,200 in rent and has high

          9  prescription expenses.  Their windows are being

         10  replaced. Ten years.

         11                 ST is 55.  She worked until 1973.

         12  Her income is $654 (SSI) and her 84 year old mother

         13  receives $1,200 (SS).  They are ineligible for SCRIE

         14  because their rent is $7 less than 33 percent of the

         15  total household income.

         16                 SC is 56.  She injured her back and

         17  stopped working in 1989.  Her income is $1,200

         18  (SSDI).  Her rent is $700. The tenants' are fighting

         19  a MCI.  Six years.

         20                 I'd like to tell you about some who

         21  will not be eligible:

         22                 BS is 34.  She is college student

         23  with MS.  Her income is $654 (SSI).  She pays $325

         24  rent in a building owned by a family member.

         25  Ineligible- unregulated tenant.
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          2                 GO is 43.  She was diagnosed with a

          3   "neurological disorder" and stopped working in

          4  1984.  Her income is $654 (SSI/SSDI).  She and an

          5  employed roommate split their rent, each paying

          6  $587.  Ineligible- total household income exceeds

          7  $24,000.

          8                 ZP is 61.  She has arthritis and

          9  depression and stopped working in 1993.  Her income

         10  is $1,000 (SSDI) and her younger husband's $800

         11  (SSDI).  Their rent is $1,000.  Ineligible-

         12  unregulated tenants.

         13                 And finally, those who are eligible

         14  for SCRIE but greatly disadvantaged by having to

         15  wait until they were 62:

         16                 SG is 62.  She has not worked since

         17  1974.  Her income is $654 (SSI) and a philanthropy

         18  pays her $584 rent.

         19                 AR is 63.  She has not worked since

         20  1982.  Her income is $800 (SSDI) and $250

         21  (philanthropy).  Her rent is $625.

         22                 CS is 65.  She had several TIA (mini

         23  strokes) in 1997.  Her income is $800 (SSDI).  Her

         24  rent is $625.  An application for assistance is

         25  pending for assistance from a philanthropy.
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          2                 If their rents had been protected

          3  from increases, it would have stayed in a better

          4  proportion with their income. This is a problem

          5  confronting newly retired seniors as well, unlike

          6  old- old seniors who may have been on SCRIE, for

          7  many years.

          8                 I hope that at some point in the

          9  future, the appropriate Council Committees will

         10  examine the SCRIE program and the barriers to

         11  serving more seniors and PWDs:

         12                 Reducing the rent/income percentage-

         13  The IBO projected that reducing the percentage to 30

         14  percent from the present 33 percent would have cost

         15  the City less and added four times as many seniors

         16  than increasing the income cap.

         17                 Income cap- annually there are calls

         18  for the income cap to be increased.

         19                 Unregulated units- these often are

         20  the only units that seniors and PWDs can afford.

         21                 Medical expenses- Borough President

         22  C. Virginia Fields proposed medical expenses be

         23  subtracted in calculating eligibility.  This would

         24  help balance the equation for PWDs who are not EPIC

         25  eligible as well as all Medicare beneficiaries
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          2  facing Part D's Donut Hole in 2006'.

          3                 Rent rollback- SCRIE freezes most

          4  rents at the time of application and are only rolled

          5  back only in limited circumstances.  I'd hope that

          6  this policy would be examined, and rents be rolled

          7  back to ensure all SCRIE participants are offered

          8  the same income protection.

          9                 For many years, I've been told no one

         10  would ever support rolling back rent to 33 percent.

         11  Well, we were also told no one would ever support

         12  expanding SCRIE to individuals with disabilities and

         13  here we are today.

         14                 We need to look at the impact of

         15  programs changing the circumstances and choices to

         16  seniors and PWDs.  These include Olmstead, Consumer

         17  Directed Services, MiCASSA, and Real Choice Systems

         18  Change Grants in keeping with the intent of the New

         19  Freedom Initiative.  The newly signed Nursing

         20  Facility Transition and Diversion Waiver Bill, which

         21  will now allow adult nursing facility eligible

         22  Medicaid recipients to use funding previously

         23  restricted to institutional care for in- home

         24  services. Extrapolating from the Waiver program for

         25  individuals with traumatic brain injuries, the
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          2  Diversion Waiver could potentially save $96 million

          3  annually in Medicaid expenses while allowing

          4  recipients to live independently.

          5                 As a candidate, Mayor Bloomberg

          6  pledged to support the expansion of the SCRIE

          7  program to assist more tenants in need of

          8  assistance.  Are we some of those tenants?  Without

          9  the Mayor's support, it is unlikely that the State

         10  legislature and Governor would approve the expansion

         11  of SCRIE.  I hope that the Committee, the Council

         12  and the Mayor will all support the expansion of

         13  SCRIE.

         14                 Thank you very much for the

         15  opportunity to address the committee on what is an

         16  extremely vital concern to our community.

         17  WRITTEN TESTIMONY OF:

         18  TOM WATERS

         19  NEW YORK STATE TENANTS AND NEIGHBORS COALITION

         20                 New York State Tenants and Neighbors

         21  Coalition is a statewide membership organization

         22  that advocates, organizes, and lobbies for tenants'

         23  rights and affordable neighborhoods.

         24                 For many years, we have strongly

         25  supported extending the Senior Citizen Rent Increase
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          2  Exemption to cover tenants with disabilities.  We

          3  urge the New York City Council to show its support

          4  for this idea as well by passing Resolution 141.

          5                 We consider this issue a priority for

          6  two reasons. First, SCRIE is an outstandingly

          7  economical way to preserve housing affordability and

          8  prevent homelessness.

          9                 Second, this is a matter of simple

         10  equity.  Low income disabled tenants under 62 need

         11  the protection of a rent increase exemption for the

         12  exact same reasons that low- income seniors do, and

         13  there is no good reason to deny them this

         14  protection.

         15                 Many people with disabilities have

         16  low incomes. In addition, many have substantial

         17  expenses due to their disabilities, including the

         18  cost of medical services and equipment,

         19  transportation, and other personal services.  These

         20  facts, combined with the deepening housing crisis in

         21  New York State, represent a significant threat to

         22  people's ability to remain in their homes.

         23                 Many people with disabilities receive

         24  income from the federal/state Supplemental Security

         25  Income and Social Security Disability programs.  But
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          2  these benefit amounts clearly do not reflect the

          3  high cost of housing in New York City.  The current

          4  SSI benefit for a person living alone in New York is

          5  $651, while the incomes of people receiving SSD

          6  vary, usually in the $700 to $1,000 per month range.

          7    In New York City in 2002, there were only 223, 677

          8  apartments with gross rents (including utilities)

          9  less than $400.  That leaves just $250 a month for

         10  food, medicine, and all other expenses, a clearly

         11  untenable situation.  (New York City Housing and

         12  Vacancy Survey, www.nyc.gov/html/hpd/pdf/hvs-

         13  initial- findings- 2002.pdf).

         14                 There are virtually no vacant

         15  apartments anywhere in the New York City area

         16  available to rent for under $500.  This means that a

         17  person depending on SSI for income has virtually no

         18  chance of finding an apartment to move into in New

         19  York City- even if he or she spends 77 percent of

         20  income on rent.

         21                 More and more tenants receiving SSI

         22  are in imminent danger of losing their apartments as

         23  rents rise.  If they do so, many will wind up living

         24  in nursing homes or in homeless shelters.  Homeless

         25  shelters cost up to $23,000 per person per year to
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          2  operate in New York City (Coalition for the

          3  Homeless), and nursing homes cost more than $104,000

          4  per person per year (New York State Partnership for

          5  Long- Term Care, www.nyspltc.org).  Federal, state,

          6  and local government will end up paying these costs.

          7                 The Senior Citizen Rent Increase

          8  Exemption program, on the other hand, is one of the

          9  State of New York's most successful and cost-

         10  effective housing affordability programs.  SCRIE

         11  enables low- income seniors in rent controlled, rent

         12  stabilized, and Mitchell- Lama apartments to remain

         13  in their homes despite rising rents by exempting

         14  them from rent increases. The program does not

         15  impose any cost on landlords, because they receive

         16  property tax abatements equal to the foregone rent

         17  increases.

         18                 Rent abatements under SCRIE cost

         19  local governments an average of less than $1,500 per

         20  tenant household in the program (Independent Budget

         21  Office, June 27, 2000).  This relatively low cost

         22  helps maintain neighborhood stability, protects

         23  people on fixed incomes from displacement, and may

         24  ultimately save government money by keeping tenants

         25  out of more costly housing programs.  For these
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          2  reasons, SCRIE is a very popular program, and local

          3  governments continue to opt in to it.

          4                 Indeed, the one major defect in SCRIE

          5  as it now exists is the lack of provision of rent

          6  increase exemptions for people with disabilities

          7  under 62 years of age.  All of the arguments for the

          8  existing program could also apply for exemptions for

          9  low- income people with disabilities.

         10                 The extension of SCRIE to people with

         11  disabilities is an idea that deserves to be enacted

         12  for reasons of equity and of prudent policy.  It

         13  would allow people with disabilities who have been

         14  fortunate enough to find accessible housing to

         15  continue to reside there by exempting them from

         16  unmanageable rent increases.  Resolution 141 should

         17  pass.

         18                 (Hearing concluded at 3:45 p.m.)
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          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7
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          9                 I, CHERYL MILLER, do hereby certify

         10  that the foregoing is a true and accurate transcript

         11  of the within proceeding.

         12                 I further certify that I am not

         13  related to any of the parties to this action by

         14  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         15  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         16                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         17  set my hand this 9th day of November 2004.
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